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Welcome to 
The Annual General Meeting

of
The Barbados Teachers’

Co-operative Credit Union Ltd
2020-2021

Prayer of St. Francis of Assisi
Lord, make me an instrument of thy peace,

Where there is hatred let me sow love,
Where there is injury, pardon;
Where there is doubt, faith;

Where there is despair, hope;
Where there is darkness, light; and

Where there is sadness, joy.

O, Divine Master, grant that I may not
So much seek to be consoled as to console;

To be understood as to understand;
To be loved as to love;

For it is in giving that we receive;
It is in pardoning that we are pardoned;

And it is in dying that we are born to eternal life.

This favourite prayer of Saint Francis of Assisi is often used by
Credit Union members at the beginning or at the end of their meetings.

It is even refered in some places as the “Credit Union Prayer”
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NOTICE
All members of the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited are invited to attend the 

Annual General Meeting at the Hilton Barbados Resort, Needhams Point, 
St. Michael on Saturday, June 26, 2021 at 3:30 p.m.

THERE WILL BE STRICT ADHERENCE TO GOVERNMENT MANDATED
PROTOCOLS RE: COVID-19

Agenda

1. Ascertainment of Quorum
2. Call to Order
3. Prayers 
4. Welcome and President’s Remarks
5. Adoption and Confirmation of the Minutes of the last Annual General Meeting held 

on October 17, 2020
6. Matters Arising from the Minutes held on October 17, 2020
7. Reports for the Financial Year Ending March 31, 2021

(a) Board of Directors
(b) Credit Committee
(c) Supervisory Committee
(d) Audited Financial Statements
(e) Treasurer’s Report

8. Appointment of Auditors
9. Setting the Maximum Liability
10. Distribution of Surplus
11. Report of Nominating Committee
12. Election to Committees

(a) Appointment of Returning Officer
(b) Election of Officers

1.   Board of Directors
2.   Credit Committee
3.   Supervisory Committee

13. Any other Business
14. Closure of Meeting

REFRESHMENTS WILL BE SERVED

……………………………

Sherrill Connell-Roberts
Secretary
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 MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT            

The Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
(“Credit Union”) was started by a few individuals who saw the need 
to pool their resources to help teachers.  Fifty-four (54) years later we 
can all say we have benefitted from their initiative and are truly grateful 
to them. 

No one needs to be reminded of 2020 being a year of unexpected 
and unprecedented challenges. The constant changes, restrictions 
and periods of lockdown have had a profound effect on all of us. The 
lockdowns posed challenges for the Credit Union as our staff were not 
equipped to work remotely from home. Moreover, our members were 
unable to access their funds.  The Board of Directors has started on a 
path to remedy these setbacks.

GOVERNANCE

The Board continued to fulfil its mandate to its members by ensuring that outstanding policies were 
developed and adopted in accordance with regulatory guidelines and best practices. Members were also offered 
moratoriums to assist with the financial burden affected by the current economic climate. 

An appeal is being extended to all members who may be experiencing challenges during these tough economic 
times, to contact the Credit Union for advice and assistance.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The Credit Union utilises the PEARLS (Protection, Effective Financial Structure, Asset Quality, Rates of 
Return and Cost, Liquidity and Signs of Growth) benchmark to monitor the performance of the Credit 
Union.  

Under the extreme difficult circumstances that the Credit Union had found themselves in the period under 
review, we had to exercise care and caution in deciding to reduce the interest rate on member shares and 
deposits. 

The Credit Union has made some strides since the last financial year, including the redevelopment of the 
website barteachcu.com, upgrades to hardware, software and the physical plant.

Our future growth and success will depend on the restructuring of our operations.  The recent developments 
that the world faced, has shown that the Credit Union was not prepared. The theme “Modernising Operations: 
To enhance and improve compliance, digital and manual services!” will assist us in the future. As 
Benjamin Franklin succinctly stated, “Without continual growth and progress, such words as improvement, 
achievement and success have no meaning.” 
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I wish to embrace the sentiments of Benjamin Franklin and make an earnest plea to the Board of Directors, 
Supervisory Committee, Credit Committee, Consultants, Management and Staff to do likewise. Our vision 
going forward should be to adopt and put into practice these four R’s; Reset, Refocus, Readjust and Restart 
as we seek to bring the Credit Union in line with the 22nd century practices.

Throughout all the challenges faced by the Credit Union during the last financial year, you the members have 
supported us. You have remained committed and continued to do business with us. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I applaud you for your unwavering commitment and dedication to the 
Credit Union.  

Allow me to express sincere thanks and gratitude for the advice, constructive criticism and support given to 
me as President during this difficult period. It has indeed been my humble pleasure and honour to have served 
you as President. 

To my fellow Directors, Credit Committee, Supervisory Committee, Management, Staff and Consultants; 
thank you for your dedication during the past financial year.   

Yours in co-operative faith

……………..........……………. 
Sherry-Ann Scott-King
President 
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aTTenDanCe 2020 annUal GeneRal MeeTInG 
BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-oPeRaTIVe CReDIT UnIon lIMITeD  

 
Anthony Alleyne Sherrill Connell-Roberts  Ronald Jones 
Claudine Alleyne Heather Craig-Gill  Samantha Julien 
Denese Alleyne Margaret Cumberbatch  Donna King 
Maria Archer Donelle Daniel  Sylina King-Ward 
Graeme Atherley Jasmay Daniel  Kamla Knight 
Imani Austin Trevor Daniel  Tricia Layne 
Jewel Austin Mark Dias  Trudy Layne 
Sheila Babb Devere Edwards  Kia Lewis 
Carl Bascombe Andrea Elis  Michael Lewis 
Felicite Belle Haldene Evelyn  Rudy Lovell 
Martin Belle Angela Fenty-Fraser  Brenda Mascoll 
Ingrid Benn Shalyn Firebrace  Colvin Mascoll 
Victor Benn Juanita Forte  Eudora Mascoll 
David Best Shirnell Gamble  Kotane Mascoll 
Karen Best Garfield Gibbs  Cheryl Mayers-Goddard 
Keelan Best Anthony Gittens  Henderson McClean 
Chad Blackman Herbert Gittens  Brenda Merritt 
Glyne Blanchette Julia Gittens  Camille Merritt 
Marion Blunte Patricia Goodridge  Rodney Millington 
Jason Blunte Eli Graham  Alexandra Noel-Bowen 
Reuben Brathwaite Lorian Graham  Henderson Nurse 
Shawn Brathwaite Lorton Graham  Frank Odle 
Jeffrey Broomes Cindy Grant  Monica Parris 
Orville Bruce Diana Grant  Whitley Parris-Harper 
Sonia Burgess-Haynes Rebekah Grant  Jefferson Phillips 
Lorraine Burke Darrell Griffith  Celeste Porte 
Gian Burnham David Seon Griffith  Jacqueline Prescod 
Rhys Burnham Marlene Griffith  Rudolph Reid 
Atherley Burrowes Sonia Griffith  eon Robinson 
Audrey Burrowes Whitfield Griffith  Cristiana Rock 
Orry Butcher Deborah A. Harper  Deryck Rock 
Shane Butcher Cameron Walter Harper  Sophia Sayers-Gordon 
Lorna Bynoe Lenora Headley  Ericka Scantlebury 
Benjamin Cadogan George Herbert  Kirley Scantlebury 
Elizabeth Cadogan Kellie Herbert  Sharon Scott 
Jason Cadogan Lavonne Hinds  Sherry-Ann Scott-King 
Troy Carrington Juliet Holder  Anthony Sealy 
Caleb Carter Grace Holder-Nelson  Lorraine Shepherd 
Marcia Clarke Clayton Hope  Rynicia Shorey 
Philip Clarke Janice Hutchinson  Andrew Simpson 
Celeste Clarke-Cox Victor Hutchinson  Harold Straughn 
Joan Collymore Davidson Ishmael  Hallam Stuart 
Margaret Connell Quincy Jones  William Stuart 
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MINUTES THE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF 
THE BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED, 

HELD ON SATURDAY, OCTOBER 17, 2020 AT 
THE HILTON BARBADOS RESORT, NEEDHAMS POINT, ST MICHAEL

1.0 Ascertainment of Quorum

1.1 The meeting commenced at 4:03 p.m., after confirmation that a quorum had been achieved.  
 The President, Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King chaired the proceedings.

2.0 Prayers

2.1 A word of prayer was said by Mr. Trevor Daniel, after which the attendees recited the prayer of 
 St. Francis of Assisi.

3.0 Excuses

3.1 An excuse of absence was made for Mr. Winston Dowrich, Chairperson of the Supervisory Committee.

4.0 Welcome Remarks

4.1 The President, Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King extended a pleasant welcome to attendees. She acknowledged 
the presence of visiting representatives, Messrs. Keith Jones of BARTEL Credit Union, Paul Maxwell 
of CAPITA Financial Services, Edwin O’Neal and Hally Haynes of the Barbados Police Co-operative 
Credit Union Ltd., Kevin Lashley of United Enterprise Credit Union Ltd., Anthony Inniss of 
Lifetime Co-operative Credit Union Limited, Kelvin Whittaker and Ms. Gloria Grant of Light & 
Power Employees Credit Union Limited.  Also acknowledged were Auditor, Mr. Peter J. Carter from 
Peter J. Carter & Co., B.T.C.C.U.L. Operations Manager, Mr. Davidson Ishmael and B.T.C.C.U.L. 
Accountant, Mr. Mark Dias. 

4.2 The President referred to her Welcome Remarks on pages 4 and 5 of the Annual Report, where she 
highlighted the principles used to guide governance practices. The financial performance had met 
the P.E.A.R.L.S benchmark and the Credit Union was financially sound and healthy. However, she 
emphasized that a three-year strategic plan was still needed for the Credit Union. 

5.0 Featured Address

5.1 Mr. Clayton Hope, First Vice President, presented the biography of the Featured Speaker, Mr. Paul 
Maxwell, C.E.O. of CAPITA Financial. Mr. Maxwell presented on the topic, “The Role of Technology 
in Financial Services”.

5.2 Mr. Paul Maxwell spoke of the decline in the use of cheques, credit transfers and direct debits, while 
indicating that the use of cards and e-payments were on the increase. He stated that this movement 
towards a cashless system would likely lead to a reduced cash system in Barbados over time. One 
notable challenge stated would be the difficulty of eliminating fraud and similar crimes. There would 
also be a greater level of transaction accountability with using cards or with online transactions. 

5.3 Mr. Maxwell also spoke of additional advantages of adopting card usage. He stated that it had been 
empirically proven that the more access that a member has, the more money/business the member 
would have with the credit union or financial institution. The financial license for the MASTER debit 
and credit cards had been obtained by CAPITA Financial and these cards could be used both locally 
and internationally.
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5.4 Mr. Atherley Burrowes asked how soon the debit cards would be made available. Mr. Maxwell indicated 
that the launch was scheduled for December 2020/January 2021, with 90,000 cards issued to Barbados 
Workers’ Union and Public Workers’ Credit Union members.

5.5 Mr. Victor Benn asked if there were any issues, referring especially to security, in protecting funds, 
with the greater use of digital technology and the movement towards debit and pre-paid debit cards. 
Mr. Maxwell pointed out that the debit cards would be directly linked to the member’s account, so 
access to funds would be immediate upon transfer. In the case of the pre-paid debit cards, the cards are 
not directly linked to the user’s account but must be re-loaded. Both types of cards carry chip and pin 
technology. This is considered to be very secure, because of the use of algorithms. To date, there had 
been no known instances of hacking chip and pin technology.

5.6 Mr. Clayton Hope offered the vote of thanks for the presentation. 

6.0 Minutes of Annual General Meeting of June 22, 2019

6.1 Errors and Omissions

6.1.1 There were no errors or omissions indicated. 

6.1.2 A motion for the adoption of the Minutes was put forward by Mr. Ronald Jones and seconded by Mrs. 
Donna King.  The motion was carried unanimously, with a vote of seventy-five (75) “For”, zero (0) 
“Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”. 

7.0 Matters Arising from Minutes of June 22, 2019

7.1 Re. 10.1 Record of Attendees at Special General Meeting of February 9, 2019.

 The President indicated that a list of the attendees to the Special General Meeting of February 9, 2019 
had been included on page 59 of the Annual Report 2019-2020.

8.0 Report of the Board of Directors

8.1 The Board of Directors’ Report for the period April 2019 to March 2020 was presented by the President, 
Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King.

8.1.1 Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King drew specific reference to the new loans available, as well as the matter of 
compliance. 

8.1.2 Ms. Scott-King spoke of the process involved to fill the two vacant positions on the Credit Committee, 
as well as the one vacancy on the Supervisory Committee. 

8.1.3 With respect to other activities, Ms. Scott-King referred to the amendments to the By-Laws, as well as 
a review of the Loans policy. 

8.1.4 Ms. Scott-King noted the appointment of the Compliance Officer, Miss Hazel-Anne Sandy, to enhance 
the Compliance Framework of the Credit Union. 

8.1.5 Ms. Scott-King indicated that the Cora Waldron Scholarship had been awarded to two recipients. In 
addition, the commitment of the Credit Union to corporate social responsibility was affirmed, by the 
making of several donations to individuals and organizations in need of assistance. 
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8.1.6 Training of staff and committee members was facilitated in order to assist in their performance of duties. 
Ms. Scott-King spoke of the Anti-Money Laundering and Combating the Financing of Terrorism 
Training (AML/CFT), as well as the CCCU/WOCCU Conference held in Bahamas in August 2019.

8.1.7 There were no questions regarding the Board of Directors’ Report.

8.2 A motion for the acceptance of Board of Directors’ Report was proposed by Mr. Victor Hutchinson 
and seconded by Mr. Quincy Jones.

8.2.1 The motion was carried by a vote of sixty-eight (68) ‘For’, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”.

8.3 Report of the Credit Committee

8.3.1 The Credit Committee Report was presented by the Chairperson, Mr. C. Walter Harper.   

8.3.2 Mr. C. Walter Harper indicated that the Credit Union was operating in aggressive and competitive 
times. He noted that the value and quantum of loans continued a steady decline over the last three 
years.

8.3.3 Mr. Harper reported that the Credit Union had successfully kept delinquency below 5%.

8.3.4 Mr. Atherley Burrowes asked if the Credit Union had planned to introduce measures to mitigate 
delinquency. 

8.3.5  Mr. Harper referred the question to the Board of Directors, saying that the Credit Committee was not 
responsible for dealing with delinquency. Mr. Lorton Graham indicated that the Board of Directors 
had implemented measures to deal with delinquency.

8.3.6 Ms. Juanita Forde asked for an explanation of the Festival Loan. Ms. Scott-King indicated that the loan 
category was created after research revealed that other financial institutions had similar offerings. The 
Festival Loan was a seasonal loan created two years prior, with a maximum disbursement of $2500.

8.4 A motion for the acceptance of the Credit Committee Report was proposed by Mrs. Sheila Babb and 
seconded by Mrs. Donna King.

8.4.1 The motion was carried by a vote of seventy-two (72) “For”, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”.   

8.5 Report of the Supervisory Committee

8.5.1 Mr. Quincy Jones, Secretary of the Supervisory Committee presented the Committee’s Report which 
was contained on pages 31-32 of the Conference booklet. 

8.5.2 He explained the duties of the Committee and stated that during the financial year under review, the 
Committee had: -

- examined all the books of the Society; 

- confirmed the cash instruments, property and securities of the Society; 

- confirmed the shares, deposits and other balances or holdings of the members; 

- monitored the management of the Society and; 

- verified and monitored all assets of the Society; 
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- received and investigated any complaints made by any member that affected the proper management 
of the Society and; 

- had the accounts of the members verified with the records of the Society.

8.5.3 Mr. Quincy Jones expressed satisfaction that the business of the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative 
Credit Union Limited was in accordance with the requirements of the By-Laws of the Credit Union.  

8.6 A motion for the acceptance of the Report was proposed by Mr. Ronald Jones and seconded by Mrs. 
Cora Waldron.

8.6.1 The motion was carried by a vote of fifty (50) “For”, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”.   

8.7 Audited Financial Statements

8.7.1 Mr. Peter Carter from the firm Peter J Carter & Co. Chartered Accountants presented the Auditor’s 
Report that was highlighted on pages 34-38 of the Conference booklet.  

8.7.2 He thanked the Credit Union and its members for allowing the Accounting Firm, Peter J Carter & 
Co. to audit the Financial Statements for the year 2019- 2020.  He indicated that there was nothing 
unusual to report.  In the opinion of the auditors, the accompanying financial statements presented 
fairly, in all material aspects, the financial position of the Credit Union, as at March 31, 2020.

8.8 A motion for the acceptance of the Audited Financial Statements was proposed by Mr. Ronald Jones 
and seconded by Mr. Victor Hutchinson.

8.8.1 The motion was carried by a vote of fifty-five (55) “For”, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”. 
The motion was unanimously carried.

8.9 Treasurer’s Report

8.9.1 Mr. Lorton Graham presented the Treasurer’s Report found on pages 57-58 of the Conference booklet.    

8.9.2 He spoke of the growth in cash assets and expressed a preference for the funds to be used by the 
membership. 

8.9.3 He also stated that in the previous reporting period, the Credit Union had benefitted from the 
 re-valuation of shares in the Co-operators General Insurance Company Limited. Also, one impact of 

Government re-structuring exercise was a dramatic loss of income from investments in Government 
Bonds. 

8.9.4 Mr. Atherley Burrowes asked why there was such a dramatic change in the valuation. The Accountant, 
Mr. Mark Dias provided an explanation of IFRS 9 provisioning, and the impact of these changes due 
to write-down and re-valuation of the Co-operators General Insurance Company’s shares.
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8.10 A motion for the adoption of the Treasurer’s Report was proposed by Mr. Jeffrey Broomes and seconded 
by Mr. C Walter Harper.  

8.10.1 The motion was carried by a vote of sixty-two (62) “For”, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”.  
The motion was unanimously carried.

9.0 Amendments to the By-Laws

9.0.1 There were no amendments to the By-Laws.

10.0 Resolutions

10.1 Mr. Clayton Hope, taking the chair in place of the President, indicated that Mr. Anthony Inniss   
 would act as the Returning Officer, and also take charge of the Resolution. 

10.2 Reference was made to Sections 205(8) and 211(8) of the Co-operative Societies Act. The proposed 
resolution would result in three candidates serving on the Credit Committee for a period of two years 
and for two candidates to be elected for one year. Three candidates would be elected to the Supervisory 
Committee for two years and one candidate would sit for one year.

10.3 Mr. Victor Hutchinson explained that in 1994-1995, an amendment to Section 36 of  the Act allowed 
the implementation of a system of rotation to the Board of Directors,  but it did not apply to the other 
two committees. However, the BTCCUL had voted to  introduce rotation for all three committees. This 
year, all five positions on the Credit  Committee were up for election, while four of five positions on 
the Supervisory Committee were subject to being filled by the election. The resolution being proposed 
(see page 65) was designed to retain the principle and practice of rotation of committee members.

 10.3.1 A motion was moved to pass the following resolution by Mrs. Deborah Swanston and seconded by   
 Mr. Victor Hutchinson. 

10.3.2 The resolution reads as follows:-

 “Whereas annual elections to the Board of Directors, the Credit Committee and the Supervisory 
Committee of the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited (BTCCUL) have provided 
for the rotation of elected members since the year 1994-1995. 

And whereas for the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of June 22, 2019 an inadequate number of 
nominees for election resulted in two (2) vacancies on the Credit Committee and one (1) vacancy on 
the Supervisory Committee, 

And whereas these vacancies were filled in accordance with sections 205 (8) and 211 (8) respectively of 
the Co-operative Societies Act of Barbados until the AGM of 2020,  

And whereas this situation has resulted in all five (5) positions on the Credit Committee, and four (4) 
of five (5) positions on the Supervisory Committee being vacant for the AGM of 2020, 

Be it resolved, in the interest of the preservation of the desired rotation of committee members, that for 
elections to the Credit Committee at the AGM 2020 the three (3) candidates receiving the three (3) 
highest tallies of votes shall serve for two (2) years, and the two (2) candidates receiving the next two 
(2) highest tallies of votes shall serve for one (1) year, 

Be it further resolved that for elections to the Supervisory Committee at the AGM of 2020, the three 
(3) candidates receiving the three (3) highest tallies of votes shall serve for two (2) years, and the 
candidate receiving the next highest tally of votes shall serve for one (1) year. “
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10.3.3 The motion was carried by a vote of seventy-five (75) “For”, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”. 
The motion was unanimously carried.

11.0 Appointment of Auditors for 2020-2021

11.1 A motion to appoint the firm of Peter J Carter & Co. as Auditors for 2020-2021, was proposed by Mr. 
Lorton Graham and seconded by Mr. Ronald Jones.

11.2 The motion was carried by a vote of eighty-five (85) “For”, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) Abstentions”.  
The motion was unanimously carried.

12.0 Setting the Maximum Liability

12.1 Mr. Lorton Graham proposed that the maximum liability remain at $10,000,000.00.  This motion 
was seconded by Mr. Ronald Jones.  

12.2 The motion was carried by a vote of forty-eight (48) “For”, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”.  
The motion was carried unanimously.

13.0 Distribution of Surplus

13.1 Mr. Lorton Graham stated that the distribution of surplus normally comes from profits. The profits 
were only $80,000, but that over the years, funds had been put aside for such lean years. He proposed 
that a patronage of 5% and a bonus of 0.5% be paid to the membership.

13.1.2 Mr. Frank Odle indicated his opposition to the payment of patronage and bonus under the 
circumstances. Mr. C. Walter Harper reminded the membership that the funds were set aside for a 
“rainy day”; instead of adding to the reserves, the funds could be used for patronage and bonus. 

 Dr. Karen Best supported Mr. Harper’s view.

13.2 The motion to pay patronage and bonus was moved by Mr. Lorton Graham and seconded by   
 Mr. C. Walter Harper. 

13.3 The motion was carried by a vote of sixty-two (62) “For”, six (6) “Against” and three (3) “Abstentions”.  
The motion was carried.

14.0 Election 2020

14.1 The Nomination Committee Report was presented by the Chairman, Mr. Anthony Alleyne. He 
introduced the team and thanked them for their assistance. The Committee was identified as:

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Anthony Alleyne

SECRETARY:  Ms. Lorna Bynoe

MEMBERS:  Mr. Frank Odle

   Mr. Clayton Hope

14.1.2 Mr. Anthony Alleyne indicated that committee was convened on February 26, 2020, in keeping with 
the By-Law 41. Nominations were invited on March 19, 2020, but the advent of COVID-19 impacted 
on the process. Nominations were re-opened on July 10, 2020 and closed on August 7, 2020. 
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14.1.3 He also reported that there were thirteen nominations submitted and twelve were accepted, based on 
the By-Laws of the Credit Union. 

14.1.4  Mr. Anthony Alleyne reminded membership of the resolution re. the Credit Committee and the 
Supervisory Committee, before thanking all three committees and the membership at the end of his 
report.

14.1.5 The names of nominees were as follows:

Board of Directors

•	 Mrs. Sheila Babb

•	 Dr. Karen Best

•	 Mr. Philip Clarke

•	 Mr. C. Walter Harper

•	 Mr. Quincy Jones

•	 Capt. Rodney Millington

•	 Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King

Credit Committee

•	 Mrs. Sheila Babb

•	 Mr. Glyne Blanchette

•	 Mr. Jeffrey Broomes

•	 Mr. Philip Clarke

•	 Mr. Lorton Graham

•	 Capt. Rodney Millington

•	 Mr. Henderson McClean

Supervisory Committee

•	 Mr. Philip Clarke

•	 Mr. Quincy Jones

•	 Mr. Ronald Jones 

14.2 A motion for the acceptance of the Nomination Committee Report was proposed by Mr. Clayton 
Hope and seconded by Mr. Ronald Jones.

14.3 The motion was carried by a vote of fifty-four (54) “For”, one (1) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions”. 

15.0  Election to Committee

15.1 Appointment of Returning Officer

15.1.1  Mr. Anthony Inniss of Lifetime Credit Union was invited to conduct the process of  elections. He was 
assisted by Mr. Keith Jones and Ms. Gloria Grant. 
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15.2 Election of Officers

15.2.1 Election to Board of Directors

•	 Mrs. Sheila Babb   16
•	 Dr. Karen Best   46
•	 Mr. Philip Clarke   16
•	 Mr. C. Walter Harper  50
•	 Mr. Quincy Jones   22
•	 Capt. Rodney Millington  20

•	 Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King 73

 There were two spoilt votes, as well as the submission of one ballot for the Credit Committee and two 
ballots for the Supervisory Committee. It was announced that Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King and 

 Mr. C. Walter Harper were duly elected to the Board of Directors, for a period of two (2) years. 

15.2.2 Election to Credit Committee

•	 Mrs. Sheila Babb   58

•	 Mr. Glyne Blanchette  61

•	 Mr. Jeffrey Broomes  71

•	 Mr. Philip Clarke   47

•	 Mr. Lorton Graham  77

•	 Capt. Rodney Millington  73

•	 Mr. Henderson McClean  75

It was announced that Mr. Lorton Graham, Mr. Henderson McClean and Capt. Rodney Millington were duly 
elected to the Credit Committee for a period of two (2) years. Mr. Jeffrey Broomes and Mr. Glyne Blanchette 
were duly elected to the Credit Committee, for a period of one (1) year.

15.2.3 Election to Supervisory Committee

•	 Mr. Philip Clarke

•	 Mr. Quincy Jones

•	 Mr. Ronald Jones 

There being no other nominations, it was announced that Mr. Philip Clarke, Mr. Quincy Jones and 
Mr. Ronald Jones were duly elected to the Supervisory Committee for a period of two years. It was 
announced that the Supervisory Committee would have the option to select one (1) other person to 
sit on that committee, for a period of one (1) year, until the next Annual General Meeting. 
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16.0 Donations

16.1 Mr. Lorton Graham proposed that the annual allocation for Donations remain at the amount of 
$20,000.00.  This motion was seconded by Mr. Ronald Jones. 

16.2 The motion was carried by a vote of thirty-nine (39) “For”, zero (0) “Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions.  
The vote was unanimously carried.

17.0 Honoraria

17.1 Mr. Lorton Graham proposed that the monthly honoraria for committee members remain the same as 
last year. This was seconded by Mr. C. Walter Harper.

Board of Directors             $400.00
Credit Committee        $325.00  

Supervisory Committee     $325.00.  

17.2 He also proposed that special honoraria be paid as follows:

Committee Member     $1,000.00
Chairperson of Credit and Supervisory  $1,300.00
Chairperson of the Board of Directors   $2,000.00 
Secretary and Treasurer    $2,000.00 each

17. 3  This motion was seconded by Mr. C Walter Harper.

17.4 The vote taken to have monthly honoraria remain the same was thirty-three (33) “For”, zero (0) 
“Against” and zero (0) “Abstentions.  The motion was carried unanimously.

17.5 The vote taken to have special honoraria remain the same was thirty (30) “For”, two (2) “Against” and 
one (1) “Abstention.  The motion was carried.

18.0 Any Other Business

18.1 Mr. Atherley Burrowes asked when the updated By-Laws would be made available to the membership.

18.1.2 Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King responded that the updated By-Laws would be uploaded online, and hard 
copies will be made available at the Credit Union. 

18.2 Mrs. Donna King suggested that the Credit Union embark on an aggressive membership campaign. 

18.2.1 Ms. Scott-King stated that there had been a net increase in membership over the year. She also 
indicated that the Board of Directors had met with a marketing firm, but the effort was stalled by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

18.3 Mrs. Donna King also suggested that the Credit Union could utilize marketing skills of people within 
the membership.

18.4 Ms. Margaret Connell asked if some consideration could be given to the earlier start of the meeting. 

18.4.1 Ms. Scott-King explained that the start time was contingent on the acquisition of a quorum. 
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18.5 Mrs. Donna King referred to page 33 of the conference booklet. She expressed the thought that a 
moment of silence should be held for those who had passed within the last financial year.

18.5.1 Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King acknowledged Mrs. King’s point and a minute of silence was observed.

19.0 Termination

19.1 The meeting was terminated at 7:00 pm on a motion by Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King and seconded by 
Mr. C. Walter Harper. It was adopted unanimously.

 ……………………………     ……………………………..
 Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King      Ms. Juliet Holder
            President             Secretary
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2020 – 2021

DIRECTORS

     OCTOBER 2020 TO MARCH 2021       APRIL 2020 TO OCTOBER 2020

      President     Sherry-Ann Scott-King                 Sherry-Ann Scott-King

      1st Vice President    Juliet Holder                       Clayton Hope

      2nd Vice President    Deborah Swanston          Trevor Daniel

      Secretary     Sherrill Connell-Roberts         Juliet Holder

      Assistant Secretary    Clayton Hope            Sherrill Connell-Roberts

      Treasurer     C. Walter Harper J.P          Lorton Graham 

      Assistant Treasurer    Clayton Hope           Deborah Swanston    

INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited is pleased to report to 
our membership on the performance of the Credit Union for the financial year ending March 31, 2021. A 
key responsibility of the Board of Directors is to chart a positive direction modernising services and improving 
the products offered to our members at the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited (“Credit 
Union”).  The ability to adapt to changes and act decisively has been demonstrated following the COVID-19 
lockdown.  We have acted quickly to assist our members and their family with a consistent approach. We have 
also responded immediately where assistance was required.    

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Board of Directors continued to adhere to the Governance Principles as outlined in the International 
Credit Union Governance Principles. Several outstanding policies as indicated by the Financial Services 
Commission (FSC) in the 2016 action plan were devised and adopted by the Board. These policies included; 
the Liquidity Policy, Investment Policy, Credit Risk and Enterprise Risk Policy. The Know Your Customer 
(KYC) project is still ongoing.

The Board has embarked on two important documents that are pivotal to the life of any institution; these are 
A Strategic Plan and a Disaster Management and Recovery Plan. These two documents should be completed 
by Mid-November of 2021.

During the period under review the Board of Directors held eighteen meetings to discuss the business of the 
Credit Union. As of mid-April, last year the majority of the Board meetings were conducted virtually. The 
Board also met with the Compliance Officer Hazel-Anne Sandy, CEO and President of Capita Financial 
Services Paul Maxwell and the Nominating Committee. A staff meeting was held in December 2020 to discuss 
concerns raised by the Staff and Committee Members. There were also five joint meetings with the Supervisory 
and Credit Committee; four of these were face to face (June 27, 2020, October 3, 2020, October 19, 2020 
and December 19, 2020). The meeting of March 31, 2021 was conducted virtually.  
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The Credit Union’s performance did not meet its expectations as was projected for the financial year. However, 
we are proud to report that the Credit Union’s Asset base as at March 31, 2021 was $104.88 million. Our 
return on investments as well as the increase provisions for Expected Credit Loss reduced our year to year 
earnings. The significant decline of our loan performance can be attributed to the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic.  

The Credit Union sought to assist our members who were negatively impacted financially as a result of the 
pandemic. Twenty-four (24) members benefitted from moratoria totalling $2,804,538.44.

•	 Total Assets increased by approximately 7.5% from $97.6 million to $104.88 million.

•	 Deposits and shares increased by 3.7% 

•	 Cash and Bank Deposits increased by 24.1%

•	 Net Loans decreased by 6%

The Credit Union embarked on new income generating ideas to remedy the shortfall in interest received on 
loans and rental income. The investment portfolio increased such that the Credit Union invested $1.4 million 
in Barbados Optional Savings Scheme (BOSS). In January 2021, we received the first semi-annual interest of 
$9,375.00 on the investment of $850 000 on the BOSS bonds acquired in August and December of 2020.  

INFRASTRUCTURAL CHANGES

The following upgrades and changes were made during the last financial year:

1. Information Technology

The productivity tools software was replaced by Microsoft Office 365. The anti-virus software Kaspersky 
was also upgraded. A new website with the address barteachcu.com was launched.  

2. Building and Civil Works

The Credit Union carried out repairs to the first floor and exterior of the Headquarters building. The 
firm of Big Dial Construction Limited was contracted to refurbish the vacant upstairs offices to bring 
them to a lettable position. The exterior of the building was given a facelift, as it was power washed 
and repainted.

3. Generator
The Generator which had been out of commission was repaired by Mr. Clarence Estwick. 

4. Staff Development

The Teller’s duties were redefined to allow them to facilitate withdrawals. The Loans Officer was 
relocated to an inner office to allow customers to be more comfortable while being interviewed.
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5.  Health and Safety Practices

Staff was equipped with Personal Protection Equipment (PPE), masks and face shields. Sanitization 
stations were installed throughout the building.  An Automatic temperature machine was installed at 
the entrance to facilitate the recording of information in the visitor’s book stationed by the security 
desk.

Additionally, the tellers’ wickets were being sanitized after every transaction.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

While the financial year ended 31 March 2021 came to an unusual close, we are delighted to share some of our 
achievements with you. Donations were made to several organisations and individuals throughout Barbados. 
Four Individuals were awarded Cora Waldron Scholarships. The other organisations that have benefitted from 
our generosity in the last financial year were: Prison Inmates Family Christmas Appeal, YWCA, Kairos Medical 
Clinic – Independence Health Fair, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Ward C8 and Haematology and Blood Bank 
and the Covid-19 Quarantine Centre. 

1. Cora Waldron Scholarship 

The Cora Waldron Scholarship Presentation Ceremony was held on September 26, 2020. The recipients were 
Samantha Downes, Aleah Harris, Sylina King-Ward and Brian Wood.

CORA WALDRON SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENTS  2020

Scholarship Recipients, Parents and Mrs. Cora Waldron MBE.



MODERNISING OPERATIONS:  To Enhance and Improve Compliance, Digital and Manual Services! 

Annual Report  2020 - 2021

21

From left to right Miss Samantha Downes, Miss Aleah Harris, Mr. Martin Wood (representing his son 
Mr. Brian Wood), Mrs. Cora Waldron MBE and Miss Sylina King-Ward. 

2. Presentation Ceremony to QEH and Covid-19 Quarantine Centre

The Credit Union saluted the frontline workers of the Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH) and the Covid-19 
Quarantine Centre on December 14, 2020.  Kitchen appliances were donated to the staff of Ward C-8 and 
the Haematology and Blood Collecting Unit. Lounge furniture was donated to the staff of the Covid-19 
Quarantine Centre. 

C. Walter Harper presenting to Nurse Larrier- Ward C-8 with 
Operations Manager Davidson Ishmael, President Sherry-Ann Scott-King and Philip Clarke 
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Presentation to Haematology and Blood Collecting
Unit – Trina Daniel Haematology

Operations Manager Davidson Ishmael presenting paperwork to the 
Human Resources Manager at Harrison’s Point Ingrid Caddle-Rowe.
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Furniture That Was Presented to Covid-19 Quarantine Centre

3.  Internship –Samuel Jackman Prescod Institute of Technology (SJPIT)

The partnership between the Credit Union and the SJPIT Business Studies Programme to employ an intern 
was facilitated last year.  Ms. Abrianna Gunning was the intern for four weeks from July 20 to August 14, 
2020. 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Committee Members and Staff of the Credit Union attended training sessions and workshops during the 
financial year. All of these workshops and training sessions were held virtually. 

1. Mutual Benefits Plan Workshop

This workshop entitled “Mutual Benefits Plan Administration Matters” was held on November 
19, 2020, facilitated by staff of the Barbados Credit Union & Co-operative League (BCCUL). The 
attendees were Mr. Victor Hutchinson, Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King, Ms. Trudy Layne, Mrs. Maria 
Archer, Ms. Shirnell Gamble and Ms. Kirley Scantlebury.

2. Liquidity Workshop

The workshop entitled “Managing Liquidity Now and Post Covid-19 Workshop” was held on June 
20 & 27 2020 presented by Adrian Lovell in conjunction with the BCCUL. Mr. Mark Dias attended 
this workshop.

.     3. Disruptive Leadership Conference

Caribbean Confederation of Credit Unions (CCCU) hosted a two day conference on November 19 
& 20 2020 under the theme: “The Future of Leaders: changing the way we lead for sustained 
competitive advantage”. This seminar was attended by the Operations Manager Mr. Davidson 
Ishmael. 

3. Reading and Understanding Credit Union Financial Statements for Non-Accountants

 This webinar was conducted on October 20, 2020 presented by Andrew F. Brathwaite (chartered 
accountant) Institute of Chartered Accountants of Barbados (ICAB), CCCU and BCCUL. The 
attendees were Mr. Clayton Hope, Mr. Trevor Daniel, Ms. Sherry-Ann Scott-King, Ms. Sherrill 
Connell-Roberts and Ms. Trudy Layne.
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FUTURE PLANS

The Board’s mandate is to continually improve the services offered to members as well as the daily operations 
of the Credit Union.  The Credit Union will be implementing the software ShareTec with capabilities for 
Accounting, Back Office automation, Loans Services and Teller and Member Services, a Debit Master Card 
(partnership with Capita Financial Services) and the ShareRing technological solutions with emphasis on KYC 
and Credit Risk profiling.

The Credit Union will be looking to embrace green technology with the installation of a photovoltaic system. 
This will significantly reduce our utilities expense and generate income for the Credit Union in the future. 

CONCLUSION

“A corporation is a living organism; it has to continue to shed its skin. Methods have to change, focus 
has to change and values have to change. The sum total of these changes is transformation.” These words 
of Andy Grove tied in with the Annual General Meeting’s theme: “Modernising Operations: to enhance and 
improve compliance, digital and manual services.” 

It is against this background that the Credit Union needs to focus on solutions to propel us in the industry. The 
transformation processes should take into consideration that members need to have easy access to funds such 
that deposits and withdrawals are not within fixed periods of time or requiring advance notice.  

The viability of our Credit Union has been rooted in the continued support of you the members, the Staff, 
Consultants and Committee Members.  The Board of Management, wishes to express its sincere thanks and 
gratitude to all of you for your commitment and unwavering support during the year under review.

.........................................  .....................................   ....................................
Sherry-Ann Scott-King           Juliet Holder                  Deborah Swanston
     President                 1st Vice President         2nd Vice President

..........................................              ........................................       ...................................
Sherrill Connell-Roberts        Clayton Hope     C. Walter Harper
      Secretary                Assistant Secretary         Treasurer

 ........................................
                                                                       Trevor Daniel
                                                                   Assistant Treasurer
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 REPORT OF THE CREDIT COMMITTEE
BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2020-2021

MEMBERSHIP

October 2020 - March 2021     April 2020 - October 2020    
 

CHAIRMAN:  Capt. Rodney Millington    CHAIRMAN:  C. Walter Harper

SECRETARY:   Glyne Blanchette     SECRETARY:  Capt. Rodney Millington

MEMBERS:  Henderson McClean    MEMBERS:   Henderson McClean   
    Jeffrey Broomes                            Glyne Blanchette 
   Lorton Graham                Jeffrey Broomes 

INTRODUCTION

During the year under review, the Committee met monthly, sometimes face -to-face and sometimes virtually 
due to the restrictions of the COVID-19 pandemic and the government-imposed curfew directives.  In addition 
to the monthly meetings, the Credit Committee also attended all meetings of the Extra Ordinary Committee, 
the Three Committees and participated fully in all other functions of the Credit Union.  The Committee 
reviewed and approved loans in accordance with loan policies. Most loan applications met the lending criteria. 
This resulted in a total of 568 loan disbursements totaling $6, 436, 468.22 during the financial year.

PERFORMANCE

Operating through this global pandemic, the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited saw 
decreases in the demand for loans during the financial year.  The difference in loan disbursements as well as the 
number of loans approved are shown in Table 1.  It should be noted that the overall loan portfolio experienced 
a decline both in number of loans disbursed and the loan amounts.  This decline over the financial year is 
shown graphically in Chart No. 1 and Chart No.2.

The largest declines were from the more popular loan categories, notably, the Line of Credit and the School 
Supplies Loans.

Charts 1 and 2 also capture the two months which were most severely affected both in loan disbursements and 
number of loans approved. These were in April 2020 and February 2021 when the restrictions included a “lock 
down” of all financial institutions. 

In examining Table 1, it must be highlighted that there were increases made in the Christmas Loans, Purchase 
of Land and Mortgages.  These increases were due in large measure to the adjustments in interest rates on 
Mortgages and Land Purchases loans.  This analysis can also be seen graphically in Charts No. 3 and No. 4.

As much uncertainty continues to loom over the financial sector, and as the island recovers from the Covid 
19 pandemic, the Credit Committee will continue to be prudent in its lending practices and will encourage 
its membership to take advantage of the financial advice offered through its Staff and Committee Members.
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Chart 1: - Comparison of the Number in Loans Approved by Month in 
2019-2020 as Compared to Those in 2020-2021
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Chart 2: - Loan Amounts Disbursed from April to March 2019-2020
to the Corresponding Period 2020-2021
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Table 1 A COMPARATIVE TABLE SHOWING THE NUMBER AND VALUE OF LOANS FOR THE 
PERIOD APRIL 2020 TO MARCH 2021

Table1: Variance Analysis of Loan Portfolio for the Financial Periods 
April 1, 2020 – March 31, 2021 and April 1, 2019 To March 31, 2020 

loan CaTeGoRY
2019 - 2020 2020-2021 DIffeRenCe 

no. ValUe no. ValUe no. ValUe

BUSINESS 1  $     73,271.15 0  $                 -   -1  $     (73,271.15)
CAR LOAN 24  $ 1,233,379.04 22  $ 1,012,009.61 -2  $   (221,369.43)
CAR REPAIRS 1  $       6,400.00 0  $                 -   -1  $       (6,400.00)
CHRISTMAS 49  $   215,500.00 51  $   199,581.96 2  $     (15,918.04)
DEBT 
CONSOLIDATION 2  $     19,500.00 2  $     92,327.44 0  $      72,827.44 
EDUCATION 6  $   166,654.40 4  $     95,290.00 -2  $     (71,364.40)
FESTIVAL LOAN 22  $     55,000.00 10  $     25,000.00 -12  $     (30,000.00)
FUNERAL 0  $                 -   1  $       9,196.68 1  $        9,196.68 
HOME 
IMPROVEMENT 32  $   591,203.79 24  $   382,046.33 -8  $   (209,157.46)
LINE OF CREDIT 214  $   825,866.45 137  $   474,780.66 -77  $   (351,085.79)
MEDICAL 4  $     48,200.00 2  $     38,120.00 -2  $     (10,080.00)
MORTGAGE 20  $ 3,927,352.04 22  $ 2,000,627.56 2  $(1,926,724.48)
OTHER 170  $ 1,022,498.35 109  $   688,678.47 -61  $   (333,819.88)
PURCHASE LAND 0 0.00 1  $     92,044.00 1  $      92,044.00 
SCHOOL SUPPLIES 180  $   528,264.41 136  $   380,088.19 -44  $   (148,176.22)
SMALL BUSINESS 1  $     58,000.00 1  $   150,000.00 0  $      92,000.00 
SPECIAL LOAN 
FACILITY 93  $   715,811.70 46  $   370,682.27 -47  $   (345,129.43)
TRAVEL 3  $     19,995.62 0  $                 -   -3  $     (19,995.62)
WEDDING 1  $       7,000.00 0  $                 -   -1  $       (7,000.00)

823 $9,513,896.95 568 $6,010,473.17 -255  $(3,503,423.78)
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Chart 3: - Comparison of the Number of Loans Approved by Category
in 2019-2020 as Compared to Those in 2020-2021
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Chart 4: - Loan Disbursement by Category in 2019-2020 
as Compared to Those in 2020-2021
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Chart 5: - Distribution of Loans Approved in 2020-2021

DELINQUENCY

The Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited has always shown a humane face in dealing 
with its delinquency portfolio, while at the same time complying with all the rules of the Financial Services 
Commission (FSC).  In reference to Table 2, which is a summary report for the period ending March 2021, 
the following must be highlighted.  Over the last financial year, several measures and government regulated 
policies have impacted the delinquency portfolio. These include:

•	 The moratorium on mortgages;

•	 The periods under lock-down;

•	 The restrictions of movement by persons over age 65;

•	 Closure of hotels and other hospitality related services.

Some of these measures have affected our membership, thus resulting in an increase in our delinquency level. 
This Credit Union has always aimed at staying below the P.E.A.R.L.S. benchmark of 5%.  The period under 
review has shown a recorded delinquency rate of 5.77%.

Table 2 shows that as at March 31, 2021 the delinquency rate stood at 5.77%, compared to (3.50% in 
2019/2020) from loans valued at $1, 821,123.71 compared to a loan delinquency value of $1, 513 249.57 in 
2019/2020. During the respective periods accrued interest was at $ 81,318.47 from 65 loans in 2020/2021 
and $75, 741.56 from 42 loans in 2019/2020. 
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Chart 5: - Distribution of loans approved in 2020-2021 
 

 
 

 
 

Table 2: DelInQUenCY bY CaTeGoRY sUMMaRY 
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TABLE 2: DELINQUENCY BY CATEGORY SUMMARY

Loan Application Description

AGRICULTURAL LOANS 2

CAR INSURANCE/REPAIR 1

CAR NEW/USED 120

CHRISTMAS SHOPPING 52

CONSOLIDATED DEBT LOANS 7

EDUCATIONAL 18

FESTIVAL 7

HOME IMPROVEMENT/REPAIR LOANS 85

HOUSE INSURANCE 63

HOUSING AND LAND MORTGAGE 118

INVESTMENT LOAN 1

LAND PURCHASES 35

LINE OF CREDIT 202

MEDICAL BILLS 4

OTHER LOANS 171

RESCHEDULED MORTGAGE 1

SCHOOL SUPPLIES 121

SMALL BUSINESS LOANS 12

SPECIAL LOAN FACILITY 105

WEDDING 1

Total of All Categories: 1,126 5.77%6537,528,468.26 1,821,123.71 4.85% 81,318.47

3 2.86%

3,754.59 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0 0.00%

1,474,791.09 9,013.00 0.61% 438.71

6 4.96%

801,406.65 272,607.10 34.02% 6,243.86 3 25.00%

608,174.95 14,464.93 2.38% 618.16

2 1.17%

289,063.53 136,306.00 47.15% 4,989.29 1 100.00%

1,455,735.83 13,512.38 0.93% 498.98

16 7.92%

55,186.11 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0 0.00%

2,379,738.13 161,317.07 6.78% 8,354.58

0 0.00%

2,963,357.77 299,058.78 10.09% 5,430.12 2 5.71%

34,060.65 0.00 0.00% 0.00

3 4.76%

20,627,422.60 502,814.90 2.44% 28,409.75 13 11.02%

60,245.39 1,949.65 3.24% 50.03

0 0.00%

2,120,836.61 75,054.62 3.54% 2,090.54 4 4.71%

5,816.33 0.00 0.00% 0.00

0 0.00%

435,534.82 7,342.00 1.69% 467.30 2 11.11%

162,416.85 0.00 0.00% 0.00

8 6.67%

132,363.38 151.22 0.11% 4.45 1 1.92%

3,798,027.16 250,596.06 6.60% 21,133.76

1 50.00%

2,793.84 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0 0.00%

117,741.98 76,936.00 65.34% 2,588.93

Total Number
Delinquent

Percent of
Total

Delinquent Loans By Category Summary
As of 3/31/2021

Total Amount
of Loans
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Delinquent

Percent of
Total

Total Interest 
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CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Credit Committee continues to function within the rules governing the Barbados Teachers’ 
Co-operative Credit Union Limited as outlined in (i) Section 212 of the Co-operative Societies Act CAP378A 
of the Laws of Barbados and (ii) in sections 58 to 69 of the By-Laws of Barbados. As such we wish to thank 
all those who assisted the Committee during the year under review, the Board of Directors, Supervisory 
Committee as well as our Staff and anyone who communicated with the Committee with various suggestions. 
We remain steadfast in our service to you the members, despite the many challenges faced by this global 
pandemic.  We also remain committed to keeping this Credit Union viable in this highly competitive financial 
environment. Thank you!

……………………………     ……………………………… 
  Capt. Rodney Millington           Mr. Glyne Blanchette
             Chairman         Secretary
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE OF THE 
BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED FOR THE 

FINANCIAL YEAR APRIL 2020 TO MARCH 2021.

INTRODUCTION

This report is presented against the backdrop of the ongoing difficulties caused by the COVID 19 pandemic. 
This report therefore covers a period which was fraught with several challenges. Several meetings had to be 
held via ZOOM and Google Meet as face-to-face meetings became difficult because of the several lockdowns 
and curfews. 

Committee Membership     Committee Membership 

October 2020 to March 2021    April 2020 to October 2020     

Mr. Ronald Jones – Chairman    Mr. Winston Dowrich - Chairman 

Mr. Philip Clarke - Secretary    Mr. Quincy Jones- Secretary 

Mr. Victor Hutchinson- Member   Mr. Victor Hutchinson - Member

Mr. Quincy Jones – Member    Mr. Ronald Jones- Member   

Dr. Karen Best – Member    Mrs. Sheila Babb - Member     

The Functions of the Supervisory Committee are outlined in (i) section 212 of the Co-operative Societies Act 
CAP.378 of the Laws of Barbados and (ii) in section 73 of the  By-Laws of the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative 
Credit Union Limited.

DUTIES

The Supervisors’ duties require them to: 

- examine the books and relevant documents of the Credit Union;

- appraise the policies and operating procedures of the society to make recommendations to the Board 
of Directors and the Credit Committee;

- confirm the cash instruments, property and securities of the society;

- confirm the shares, deposits, and other holdings or balances of members;

- monitor the management of the Society;

- verify the assets of the society and monitor whether the assets are properly protected;
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- receive and investigate any complaint made by any member affecting the proper management of the 
society;

- at least once a year have the accounts of members verified with the records of the society.

METHODOLOGY 

The Supervisory Committee met regularly to:

- examine the minutes of the Board of Directors and the Credit Committee to ascertain the progress of 
programmes and to observe their adherence to policies;

- monitor the loan portfolio to ascertain financial performance and to pay attention to delinquency;

- have consultations with the Internal Auditor on matters of investment, financial performance, credit 
union fiduciary standards, the holdings and balances of members,

- examine the financial records of the Credit Union;

- hold discussions with the Board of Directors and the Credit Committee on matters which impact their 
operations and general performance

The Supervisors were assigned specific tasks as a means of streamlining the functioning of the committee. 
Individual members were allocated lead responsibility for:

	Operations

	Compliance matters

	Delinquency

	Record keeping

	New policies/strategies

	Correspondence 

Additionally, the body met at least once monthly to evaluate and consider, among other things, the findings of 
any Supervisor on any matter related to the operations of the credit union, and to agree on any recommendations 
to be forwarded to the Board.   Meetings were held from time to time with the Operations’ Manager, the 
Accountant, or the Internal Auditor before submission of such recommendations.

The Supervisors participated in all Three Committee Meetings and where necessary interrogated the processes 
and proposed actions to be considered by the Board and Credit Committee.

The Supervisors are of the opinion that the business affairs of the credit union were conducted generally in 
accordance with the By-Laws of the Society and in keeping with acceptable business and financial standards. 
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RECOMMENDATIONS

Targeted training would help in improving the overall efficiency and effectiveness of the staff and generally 
impact on the efficacy of the Society.

Educational sessions need to be instituted as soon as the Covid 19 environment becomes better. Nevertheless, 
in the absence of face-to-face activities, the Society needs to utilize available technologies to reach members.

The Supervisors continue to support Three-Committee meetings and urge that these meetings should be held 
no less than quarterly.

The Supervisors continue to be concerned about the level of delinquency at the Credit Union, as this affects 
the general viability of the Society. Even though efforts have been made to curtail this, more vigorous efforts 
need to be pursued to decrease the delinquency levels.

The Society is in transition as it seeks to meet changing global financial standards as well as compliance issues. 
As such, appropriate policies and timely submission of documents to meet compliance standards cannot be 
overemphasized. 

CONCLUSION

The Supervisors are thankful to all those persons with whom it interacted during the last financial period. 
Principal among these are the Internal Auditor, the Accountant, the Operations Manager and the Compliance 
Officer. We thank also the members of the office staff for their cooperation in meeting our requests for specific 
information.

……………………     ……………………………..
Ronald Jones, JP            Philip Clarke
Chairman               Secretary
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The Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited extends heartfelt 
condolences to the relatives and friends of all the members who passed into 

eternity during the year just ended.

Among these individuals were:

Mr. John Hamilton Clarke

Ms. Keren Delores Prescott

May they Rest in Peace, and may light perpetual shine upon them

The Passing Parade
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Members
Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Ltd.

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union 
Ltd., which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021, and the Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Credit Union as at March 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Credit
Union in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit 
Union’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Credit Union or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial 
reporting process.

Independent Auditors’ Report

3

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

      0991 ecniS          P.O. Box 78WRD 
Professional Business Centre

29 George Street, Belleville, St. Michael BB11114
Barbados, W.I.

Tel/Fax: (246) 429-7531
“We reckon but people count”           Email – pjc@caribsurf.com

PJC Peter J. Carter & Co. 
 Chartered Accountants 
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Members
Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Ltd.

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union 
Ltd., which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021, and the Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Credit Union as at March 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Credit
Union in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit 
Union’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Credit Union or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial 
reporting process.

Independent Auditors’ Report

3

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

 0991 ecniS    

PJC
 Chartered Accountants 
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Independent Auditors’ Report

4

Other information
Management is responsible for any other information that is presented or distributed with the 
audited financial statements.  Other information may comprise, for example, the content of a 
Company’s Annual Report except for the financial statements and our Auditors’ Report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover any other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance on any other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read any other 
information as identified above and, in doing so, consider whether such other information 
appears to be materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements.  If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement in the other 
information, then we are required to report that fact.  At the time of reporting we have not seen 
any other information and so we cannot offer any comment thereon.

Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Members of Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union 
Ltd., as a body, in accordance with Section 123 of the Co-operative Societies Act of Barbados.  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Credit Union and its Members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we 
have formed.

------------------------------------
PETER J. CARTER & CO.
Chartered Accountants
Barbados

June 11, 2021

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Balance Sheet
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

5

2021 2020
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents - Note 7 29,938,896 24,122,146
Accounts receivable and prepayments - Note 8 492,934 472,754
Current investments - Note 10 15,474,723 18,642,912

45,906,553 43,237,812
Non-current assets
Loans to members - Note 9 34,757,761 37,007,378
Non-current investments - Note 10 16,048,674 13,944,346
Property, plant and equipment - Note 11 8,055,356 3,329,342
Pension Plan asset - Note 12 115,916 120,740

Total assets 104,884,260 97,639,618

Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals - Note 13 154,968 139,477
Deposits payable - Note 14 83,905,695 80,931,601
Qualifying shares - Note 15 954,271 965,809

Total liabilities 85,014,934 82,036,887

Equity
Statutory reserve 10,488,426 9,763,962
Revaluation reserve – Note 11(b) 4,778,693 0
Unrealized surplus - Note 10(b) 4,323,671 4,147,570
Undivided surplus 278,536 1,691,199
Total equity 19,869,326 15,602,731

Total liabilities and equity 104,884,260 97,639,618

See notes to financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors, June 11, 2021, and signed on their behalf by:

______________________________                      _____________________________
President    Treasurer

 0991 ecniS    
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Independent Auditors’ Report

4

Other information
Management is responsible for any other information that is presented or distributed with the 
audited financial statements.  Other information may comprise, for example, the content of a 
Company’s Annual Report except for the financial statements and our Auditors’ Report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover any other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance on any other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read any other 
information as identified above and, in doing so, consider whether such other information 
appears to be materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements.  If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement in the other 
information, then we are required to report that fact.  At the time of reporting we have not seen 
any other information and so we cannot offer any comment thereon.

Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Members of Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union 
Ltd., as a body, in accordance with Section 123 of the Co-operative Societies Act of Barbados.  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Credit Union and its Members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we 
have formed.

------------------------------------
PETER J. CARTER & CO.
Chartered Accountants
Barbados

June 11, 2021

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Balance Sheet
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

5

2021 2020
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents - Note 7 29,938,896 24,122,146
Accounts receivable and prepayments - Note 8 492,934 472,754
Current investments - Note 10 15,474,723 18,642,912

45,906,553 43,237,812
Non-current assets
Loans to members - Note 9 34,757,761 37,007,378
Non-current investments - Note 10 16,048,674 13,944,346
Property, plant and equipment - Note 11 8,055,356 3,329,342
Pension Plan asset - Note 12 115,916 120,740

Total assets 104,884,260 97,639,618

Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals - Note 13 154,968 139,477
Deposits payable - Note 14 83,905,695 80,931,601
Qualifying shares - Note 15 954,271 965,809

Total liabilities 85,014,934 82,036,887

Equity
Statutory reserve 10,488,426 9,763,962
Revaluation reserve – Note 11(b) 4,778,693 0
Unrealized surplus - Note 10(b) 4,323,671 4,147,570
Undivided surplus 278,536 1,691,199
Total equity 19,869,326 15,602,731

Total liabilities and equity 104,884,260 97,639,618

See notes to financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors, June 11, 2021, and signed on their behalf by:

______________________________                      _____________________________
President    Treasurer
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

6

Statutory 
reserve

Revaluation 
reserve

Unrealized 
surplus

Undivided
surplus

Total

Balance - March 31, 2019, as 
previously stated 9,349,797 0 0 6,678,962 16,028,759
Transfer of fair value gain on 
unquoted equity investments 0 0 3,798,807 (3,798,807) 0
Balance - March 31, 2019, as re-
stated 9,349,797 0 3,798,807 2,880,155 16,028,759

Bonus on savings- 0.5% 0 0 0 (317,439) (317,439)
Patronage refund - 6% 0 0 0 (188,929) (188,929)
Entrance fees 222 0 0 0 222
Net comprehensive income for year 0 0 0 80,118 80,118
Transfer of fair value gain on 
unquoted equity investments 0 0 348,763 (348,763) 0
Transfer to statutory reserve 413,943 0 0 (413,943) 0

Balance - March 31, 2020, as re-
stated 9,763,962    0 4,147,570 1,691,199 15,602,731

Bonus on savings- 0.5% 0 0 0 (320,903) (320,903)
Patronage refund - 5% 0 0 0 (137,566) (137,566)
Entrance fees 178 0 0 0 178
Net comprehensive income for year 0 0 0 4,724,886 4,724,886
Transfer of fair value gain on 
unquoted equity investments 0 0 656,509 (656,509) 0
Transfer of 10% of fair value gain 
on unquoted equity investments 480,408 0 (480,408) 0 0
Transfer to statutory reserve 243,878 0 0 (243,878) 0

Gain on revaluation of property 0 4,778,693 0 (4,778,693) 0

Balance - March 31, 2021 10,488,426 4,778,693 4,323,671 278,536 19,869,326

See notes to financial statements.

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

7

2021 2020
Interest income
Loans to members 2,272,307 2,705,669
Investments 541,904 609,864
Cash and cash equivalents 6,460 9,514

2,820,671 3,325,047

Interest expense
Demand deposits - 0.75% to 1.25% p.a. (prior year 1%
to 1.25%) 874,854 1,095,486
Term deposits - 0.75% to 1.25% p.a. (prior year 1.25%) 114 345
Qualifying shares - 0.75% to 1.25% p.a. (prior year 
1.25%) 10,355 13,869

885,323 1,109,700

Net interest income 1,935,348 2,215,347

Other income
Dividends 138,452 130,882
Gain on disposal of assets 0 21,307
Rent 57,600 57,600
Sundry 12,335 30,219

208,387 240,008

Other expenses
Depreciation 92,015 120,704
Net present value adjustment on Government securities -
Note 10(d) 90,331 794,669
Staff costs - Note 6 601,758 573,602
Other operating expenses 2,063,470 1,229,454

2,847,574 2,718,429

Net income for year (703,839) (263,074)

Other comprehensive income (OCI)
Pension re-measurements (6,477) (5,571)
Fair value gain on unquoted equity shares - Note 10(b) 656,509 348,763
Gain on revaluation of property 4,778,693 0

Net comprehensive income for year 4,724,886 80,118

See notes to financial statements.
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

7

2021 2020
Interest income
Loans to members 2,272,307 2,705,669
Investments 541,904 609,864
Cash and cash equivalents 6,460 9,514

2,820,671 3,325,047

Interest expense
Demand deposits - 0.75% to 1.25% p.a. (prior year 1%
to 1.25%) 874,854 1,095,486
Term deposits - 0.75% to 1.25% p.a. (prior year 1.25%) 114 345
Qualifying shares - 0.75% to 1.25% p.a. (prior year 
1.25%) 10,355 13,869

885,323 1,109,700

Net interest income 1,935,348 2,215,347

Other income
Dividends 138,452 130,882
Gain on disposal of assets 0 21,307
Rent 57,600 57,600
Sundry 12,335 30,219

208,387 240,008

Other expenses
Depreciation 92,015 120,704
Net present value adjustment on Government securities -
Note 10(d) 90,331 794,669
Staff costs - Note 6 601,758 573,602
Other operating expenses 2,063,470 1,229,454

2,847,574 2,718,429

Net income for year (703,839) (263,074)

Other comprehensive income (OCI)
Pension re-measurements (6,477) (5,571)
Fair value gain on unquoted equity shares - Note 10(b) 656,509 348,763
Gain on revaluation of property 4,778,693 0

Net comprehensive income for year 4,724,886 80,118

See notes to financial statements.

Net loss for year
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

8

2021 2020
Cash provided / (used) by:
Operating activities
Net comprehensive income for year 4,724,886 80,118
Add items not involving cash
Depreciation 92,015 120,704
Gain on disposal of assets 0 (21,307)
Pension Plan expense 4,707 3,987
Gain on revaluation of property (4,778,693) 0

42,915 183,502
Change in non-cash operating items
Accounts receivable and prepayments (20,180) (56,489)
Accounts payable and accruals 15,490 82,696
Deposits payable 2,974,095 4,493,196
Qualifying shares (11,538) (8,210)
Pension Plan contributions 117 (664)

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,000,899 4,694,031

Investing activities
Loan repayments - net 2,249,617 1,885,377
Decrease / (Increase) in investments 1,063,861 (1,565,178)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 0 22,900
Purchase of plant and equipment (39,336) (109,115)

Net cash provided by investing activities 3,274,142 233,984

Financing activities
Bonus on savings (320,903) (317,439)
Entrance fees 178 222
Patronage refund (137,566) (188,929)

Net cash used by financing activities (458,291) (506,146)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,816,750 4,421,869

Cash and cash equivalents - start of year 24,122,146 19,700,277

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 29,938,896 24,122,146

See notes to financial statements.

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

9

1. Registration

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD. was registered on 
July 01, 1967 in accordance with the Co-operative Societies’ Act, Cap 378. The Society 
was continued on August 12, 1994 under the Co-operative Societies Act 1990. The
principal place of business is located at John Lovell Building, Lower Collymore Rock, St. 
Michael, Barbados.  

2. Principal activities

The principal activities are as follows:

(a) The provision of means whereby savings can be affected by members and whereby 
shares in the Credit Union can be purchased.

(b) The education of members in Co-operative principles and methods and the efficient
management of the Credit Union’s affairs.

(c) The creation, out of savings of members and otherwise, of a source of credit available to 
members on reasonable terms and conditions.

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
These financial statements are stated in Barbados dollars and have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

(b) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.  The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are recognized in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. Key sources of estimation uncertainty include impairment of loans,
determination of appropriate rates for depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
estimation of the unrealized gain on property, estimation of the fair value of unquoted 
equity investments and computation of the amortized cost of long-term securities. The 
credit union’s critical accounting policies and estimates, and their application, are 
reviewed periodically by management.
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

8

2021 2020
Cash provided / (used) by:
Operating activities
Net comprehensive income for year 4,724,886 80,118
Add items not involving cash
Depreciation 92,015 120,704
Gain on disposal of assets 0 (21,307)
Pension Plan expense 4,707 3,987
Gain on revaluation of property (4,778,693) 0

42,915 183,502
Change in non-cash operating items
Accounts receivable and prepayments (20,180) (56,489)
Accounts payable and accruals 15,490 82,696
Deposits payable 2,974,095 4,493,196
Qualifying shares (11,538) (8,210)
Pension Plan contributions 117 (664)

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,000,899 4,694,031

Investing activities
Loan repayments - net 2,249,617 1,885,377
Decrease / (Increase) in investments 1,063,861 (1,565,178)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 0 22,900
Purchase of plant and equipment (39,336) (109,115)

Net cash provided by investing activities 3,274,142 233,984

Financing activities
Bonus on savings (320,903) (317,439)
Entrance fees 178 222
Patronage refund (137,566) (188,929)

Net cash used by financing activities (458,291) (506,146)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,816,750 4,421,869

Cash and cash equivalents - start of year 24,122,146 19,700,277

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 29,938,896 24,122,146

See notes to financial statements.

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

9

1. Registration

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD. was registered on 
July 01, 1967 in accordance with the Co-operative Societies’ Act, Cap 378. The Society 
was continued on August 12, 1994 under the Co-operative Societies Act 1990. The
principal place of business is located at John Lovell Building, Lower Collymore Rock, St. 
Michael, Barbados.  

2. Principal activities

The principal activities are as follows:

(a) The provision of means whereby savings can be affected by members and whereby 
shares in the Credit Union can be purchased.

(b) The education of members in Co-operative principles and methods and the efficient
management of the Credit Union’s affairs.

(c) The creation, out of savings of members and otherwise, of a source of credit available to 
members on reasonable terms and conditions.

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
These financial statements are stated in Barbados dollars and have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

(b) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.  The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are recognized in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. Key sources of estimation uncertainty include impairment of loans,
determination of appropriate rates for depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
estimation of the unrealized gain on property, estimation of the fair value of unquoted 
equity investments and computation of the amortized cost of long-term securities. The 
credit union’s critical accounting policies and estimates, and their application, are 
reviewed periodically by management.
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

10

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Measurement basis
The measurement basis used is historical cost except for equity investments which are
stated at their fair values.

(d) Changes in accounting policies
Management has reviewed the new standards, amendments and interpretations to 
published standards that are not yet effective and which the Credit Union has not 
adopted early.  Management has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, 
amendments and interpretations and has concluded that no such amendments are likely 
to have a material effect on its financial statements.

(e) Taxation
The Credit Union is not required to pay taxes on its net income under Section 9(g) of the 
Income Tax Act of Barbados.

(f) Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on building, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis at 
rates designed to reduce the cost of assets to their residual value at the end of their 
useful lives in the business.  The annual rates used are as follows: Furniture and 
equipment - 10%, 12.5% and 33.33%, Vehicles - 20% and Building - 1%.

(g) Investments
Investments are initially recorded at cost.  For subsequent measurement, investments 
that are classified as being held to maturity are recorded at cost or amortized cost.  
Available-for-sale equity investments are shown at fair value.  All investments are 
subject to adjustment for any impairment of value.  Impairment occurs where the 
estimated recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying value.  Management 
makes an assessment of whether any assets are impaired in value as at each Balance 
Sheet date.

(h) Statutory Reserve
The credit union is required to establish and maintain reserves consisting of the greater 
of one half of one per cent (0.5%) of assets or twenty-five per cent (25%) of surplus until 
the capital of the Society equals ten percent (10%) of the total assets of the Society, in 
accordance with the Co-operative Societies’ legislation. Similarly, Entrance Fees are 
taken to a Reserve Account.

(i) Education Fund
A provision is made for Education as stipulated by the Barbados Co-operative & Credit 
Union League Ltd.  The amount provided is three percent (3%) of net income or 
$15,000, whichever is the lesser.

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

11

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Impairment provision
The level of impairment of the loan portfolio is determined using an Expected Credit 
Loss (ECL) Model.  All outstanding loans are taken into account, as well as loan
commitments.

(g) Foreign currency transactions
Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into
Barbados dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the Balance Sheet date. Transactions 
arising during the year involving foreign currencies are translated into Barbados dollars 
at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date the transactions occurred. Differences 
arising from fluctuations in exchange rates are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(h) Income recognition
Interest, rent and sundry income are recognized on the accrual basis of accounting.  
Dividend income is recognized when it is declared by the investee company.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits and other deposits on 
call.

(j) Pension costs
The company operates a contributory defined benefit Pension Plan for its eligible 
employees which is funded through payments from the employees and the company as 
determined by actuarial calculations.  Contributory defined benefit plans define an amount 
of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one 
or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.  The asset recognized in 
the balance sheet in respect of the contributory defined benefit pension plan is the fair 
value of the plan assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end 
of the financial year, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses 
and past service costs.  The fair value of plan assets is calculated annually by an
independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.  The present value of the
contributory defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future
cash flows using interest rates of long-term government securities. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and excluded permanently 
from profit and loss.  Interest income is calculated using the discount rate used to 
measure the pension obligation.  All past service cost is recognized at the earlier of when 
the amendment/curtailment occurs or when the entity recognizes related restructuring or 
termination costs.  The pension items recorded in Other Comprehensive Income are taken 
to Undivided Surplus in the Consolidated Statement of Equity.
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Measurement basis
The measurement basis used is historical cost except for equity investments which are
stated at their fair values.

(d) Changes in accounting policies
Management has reviewed the new standards, amendments and interpretations to 
published standards that are not yet effective and which the Credit Union has not 
adopted early.  Management has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, 
amendments and interpretations and has concluded that no such amendments are likely 
to have a material effect on its financial statements.

(e) Taxation
The Credit Union is not required to pay taxes on its net income under Section 9(g) of the 
Income Tax Act of Barbados.

(f) Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on building, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis at 
rates designed to reduce the cost of assets to their residual value at the end of their 
useful lives in the business.  The annual rates used are as follows: Furniture and 
equipment - 10%, 12.5% and 33.33%, Vehicles - 20% and Building - 1%.

(g) Investments
Investments are initially recorded at cost.  For subsequent measurement, investments 
that are classified as being held to maturity are recorded at cost or amortized cost.  
Available-for-sale equity investments are shown at fair value.  All investments are 
subject to adjustment for any impairment of value.  Impairment occurs where the 
estimated recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying value.  Management 
makes an assessment of whether any assets are impaired in value as at each Balance 
Sheet date.

(h) Statutory Reserve
The credit union is required to establish and maintain reserves consisting of the greater 
of one half of one per cent (0.5%) of assets or twenty-five per cent (25%) of surplus until 
the capital of the Society equals ten percent (10%) of the total assets of the Society, in 
accordance with the Co-operative Societies’ legislation. Similarly, Entrance Fees are 
taken to a Reserve Account.

(i) Education Fund
A provision is made for Education as stipulated by the Barbados Co-operative & Credit 
Union League Ltd.  The amount provided is three percent (3%) of net income or 
$15,000, whichever is the lesser.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Impairment provision
The level of impairment of the loan portfolio is determined using an Expected Credit 
Loss (ECL) Model.  All outstanding loans are taken into account, as well as loan
commitments.

(g) Foreign currency transactions
Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into
Barbados dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the Balance Sheet date. Transactions 
arising during the year involving foreign currencies are translated into Barbados dollars 
at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date the transactions occurred. Differences 
arising from fluctuations in exchange rates are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(h) Income recognition
Interest, rent and sundry income are recognized on the accrual basis of accounting.  
Dividend income is recognized when it is declared by the investee company.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits and other deposits on 
call.

(j) Pension costs
The company operates a contributory defined benefit Pension Plan for its eligible 
employees which is funded through payments from the employees and the company as 
determined by actuarial calculations.  Contributory defined benefit plans define an amount 
of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one 
or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.  The asset recognized in 
the balance sheet in respect of the contributory defined benefit pension plan is the fair 
value of the plan assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end 
of the financial year, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses 
and past service costs.  The fair value of plan assets is calculated annually by an
independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.  The present value of the
contributory defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future
cash flows using interest rates of long-term government securities. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and excluded permanently 
from profit and loss.  Interest income is calculated using the discount rate used to 
measure the pension obligation.  All past service cost is recognized at the earlier of when 
the amendment/curtailment occurs or when the entity recognizes related restructuring or 
termination costs.  The pension items recorded in Other Comprehensive Income are taken 
to Undivided Surplus in the Consolidated Statement of Equity.
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars
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4. Fair value of financial instruments
(a) Financial instruments

Financial instruments consist of financial assets and liabilities.  Financial assets include 
cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, loans to members and investments. 
Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accruals, deposits payable and
qualifying shares.

(b) Fair value
Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  Fair 
value is best evidenced by a quoted market value.  An estimate, based on assumptions, 
is made of the fair value of each class of financial instrument for which it is practical to 
make an estimate.  The fair values of the financial instruments are estimated to be not 
materially different from their carrying values in the financial statements.

(c) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for 
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. As part of the risk management 
process, bank deposits are placed only with reputable financial institutions.  Loans limits
are established and approved by Management and security is generally required for 
loans granted.  Credit risk on accounts receivable is limited by the provision made for 
doubtful debts.

(d) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  It arises because of the possibility that the entity 
could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected.  Management reviews the 
liquidity position of the credit union periodically to assess the availability of cash 
resources as compared to the projected cash outflows.

(e) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk includes interest rate risk. 
Interest rate risk is the risk of fluctuations in interest rates. The entity’s exposure to
market risk on financial instruments is disclosed in Notes 7, 9 and 10.

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

13

5. Related parties

(a) Related parties exist where one party has the ability to control or exercise significant 
influence over the financial or operating decisions of another party.  Transactions with 
related parties may be entered into in the normal course of business.  Any such 
transactions are undertaken on commercial terms and conditions and are conducted at 
market rates.

(b) The Credit Union has a related party relationship with its directors, key management 
personnel and the pension scheme. As at the Balance Sheet date, related parties’
balances were as follows:

2021 2020

Loans 385,594 328,568
Deposits payable and qualifying shares 501,225 470,378

(c) Honoraria paid to the directors totaled $48,700 (prior year $48,700).

(d) Key management personnel compensation is included in Staff Costs, and is as follows:

2021 2020
Employee benefits 273,941 263,762

6.      Staff costs 2021 2020
601,758 573,602

The number of employees during the year was eight (prior year - seven).
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4. Fair value of financial instruments
(a) Financial instruments

Financial instruments consist of financial assets and liabilities.  Financial assets include 
cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, loans to members and investments. 
Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accruals, deposits payable and
qualifying shares.

(b) Fair value
Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  Fair 
value is best evidenced by a quoted market value.  An estimate, based on assumptions, 
is made of the fair value of each class of financial instrument for which it is practical to 
make an estimate.  The fair values of the financial instruments are estimated to be not 
materially different from their carrying values in the financial statements.

(c) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for 
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. As part of the risk management 
process, bank deposits are placed only with reputable financial institutions.  Loans limits
are established and approved by Management and security is generally required for 
loans granted.  Credit risk on accounts receivable is limited by the provision made for 
doubtful debts.

(d) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  It arises because of the possibility that the entity 
could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected.  Management reviews the 
liquidity position of the credit union periodically to assess the availability of cash 
resources as compared to the projected cash outflows.

(e) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk includes interest rate risk. 
Interest rate risk is the risk of fluctuations in interest rates. The entity’s exposure to
market risk on financial instruments is disclosed in Notes 7, 9 and 10.
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5. Related parties

(a) Related parties exist where one party has the ability to control or exercise significant 
influence over the financial or operating decisions of another party.  Transactions with 
related parties may be entered into in the normal course of business.  Any such 
transactions are undertaken on commercial terms and conditions and are conducted at 
market rates.

(b) The Credit Union has a related party relationship with its directors, key management 
personnel and the pension scheme. As at the Balance Sheet date, related parties’
balances were as follows:

2021 2020

Loans 385,594 328,568
Deposits payable and qualifying shares 501,225 470,378

(c) Honoraria paid to the directors totaled $48,700 (prior year $48,700).

(d) Key management personnel compensation is included in Staff Costs, and is as follows:

2021 2020
Employee benefits 273,941 263,762

6.      Staff costs 2021 2020
601,758 573,602

The number of employees during the year was eight (prior year - seven).
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7.       Cash and cash equivalents 2021 2020

Current accounts 24,063,853 18,269,870
Savings account - 0.05% p.a. (prior year 0.05%) 5,538,438 5,535,849
Cash 95,591 75,836
Demand deposits
Central Fund Facility Trust deposits:
Ordinary deposit - 0.75% p.a. (prior year 0.75%) 20,457 20,034
Statutory Reserve - 1.25% p.a. (prior year 1.25%) 19,226 19,226

Barbados Co-operative & Credit Union League Ltd.: 201,331 201,331

29,938,896 24,122,146

8.       Accounts receivable and prepayments 2021 2020
Interest receivable 268,969 445,916
Sundry accounts 79,358 56,358
Less impairment provision (155,676) (132,099)
Deposit on new software program 202,630 0
Other prepayments 97,653 102,579

492,934 472,754

(a) Impairment provision 2021 2020

Balance - start of year 132,099 158,158
Increase / (decrease) in provision 23,577 (26,059)

Balance - end of year 155,676 132,099
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9. Loans to members 2021 2020

Gross loans 37,528,468 39,050,772
Less impairment provision (2,770,707) (2,043,394)

Net value of loans 34,757,761 37,007,378

(a) Impairment provision 2021 2020

Balance - start of year 2,043,394 2,159,061
Increase in provision 727,313 (115,667)

Balance - end of year 2,770,707 2,043,394

(b) As at the Balance Sheet date, the maturity profile of loans to members was as follows:
2021 2020

Amount due in:
Less than one year 662,518 605,563
Greater than one, to five years 8,934,502 9,731,282
Over five years 27,931,448 28,713,927

Total 37,528,468 39,050,772

(c) Loans to members are granted at interest rates varying from 5% to 10% per annum, 
except for line of credit loans which totaled $2,379,738 (prior year $2,829,054) and 
which carry an interest rate of 15% per annum.  All interest is charged on the reducing 
balance basis.

(d) The impairment provision in respect of loans receivable was calculated using an 
Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model developed by external consultants. The model was 
designed to enable compliance with the requirements of International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS 9).

(e)      Commitments 2021 2020

Loans approved but not yet disbursed 1,885,924 1,565,217
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7.       Cash and cash equivalents 2021 2020
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10.      Investments 2021 2020

(a)    Current investments
        Held to maturity term deposits

Barbados Public Workers Co-operative Credit Union 
Ltd. - 1.50% p.a. (prior year 1.55% to 2.25%) 750,000 1,750,000

Barbados Police Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. - prior 
year 3% p.a. 0 1,000,000
First Citizens Investment Services (Barbados) Ltd. - 2%
p.a. (prior year 2%) 6,000,000 6,000,000
Co-operators General Management Co. Inc. - 7% p.a. 
(prior year 7%) 1,124,723 1,292,912
Capita Financial Services Inc. - 1.9% to 2.15% p.a.
(prior year 2.15% to 3%) 6,600,000 6,600,000
City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. -
1.85% p.a. (prior year 1.85%) 0 2,000,000

14,474,723 18,642,912

Non-current investments
Held to maturity term deposits
Barbados Police Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. - 2.5%
p.a., maturing December 2022 1,000,000 0

Barbados Government Securities 9,670,105 8,360,436

Available-for-sale
Co-operators General Insurance Company Limited:
- 9,120 shares (prior year 8,942) 3,285,958 2,929,131

Co-operators General Management Co. Inc.:
- 17,525 (prior year 16,960 shares) 3,092,411 2,654,579

Barbados Co-operative & Credit Union League Ltd.

Barbados Co-operative & Credit Union League Ltd.;
- 20 membership shares 200 200

17,048,674 13,944,346

Total investments 31,523,397 32,587,258

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2021
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10.    Investments - continued

(b) The fair value of unquoted equity investments is based on a valuation done by the
Consulting Division of the Cave Hill School of Business (CHSOB).  CHSOB performed a
valuation as at May 31, 2020 for each of these unquoted investments, using a range of
generally accepted valuation models.  The “best estimate” of the fair market value was 
estimated as the median value of the fair market values generated from the various models 
used. The valuation models used were Book Value, Market to Book, Trailing Price Earnings, 
Price to Sales, Price to Earnings Before Tax and Dividend Growth, Price to Earnings Before
Tax, Depreciation and Amortization, Dividend Growth Model and Free Cash Flows to Equity.  
The Directors consider that the valuation of the unquoted equity investments arrived at by 
the process described above reflects their fair value as at the balance sheet date.

(c) Government restructured securities comprise Series B and D securities. Series B
securities consist of eleven (11) amortizing strips with maturities ranging from five (5) to 
fifteen (15) years.  Interest is payable quarterly.  Interest rates are 1% p.a. for the first 
three (3) years beginning October 01, 2018 and ending September 30, 2021, 2.5% p.a.
for year four (4) beginning October 01, 2021 and ending September 30, 2022, and 
thereafter 3.75% p.a. starting October 01, 2022 until maturity at September 30, 2033.
The principal of each strip will be repaid in four equal quarterly instalments commencing 
one year prior to the maturity date of that strip. Series D securities consist of twenty (20)
amortizing strips with maturities ranging from sixteen (16) to thirty-five (35) years. 
Interest is payable quarterly from November 30, 2018. Interest rates are 1.5% p.a. for 
the five (5) years ending August 31, 2023; 4.25% p.a. for the five (5) years ending
August 31, 2028; 6% p.a. five (5) years ending August 31, 2033; and 7.5% p.a.
thereafter until maturity at August 31, 2053. The principal of each strip will be repaid in 
four equal quarterly instalments in the final year prior to maturity commencing on 30 
November 2033 with the exception of the final strip, which will be repaid in three
instalments with a final payment on August 31, 2053.

(d) The maturity profile of the Barbados Government Securities is shown below:

Maturity Profile 2021 2020
Barbados Optional Savings Scheme bonds
One to 5 years 1,400,000 0
Series B bonds
One to 5 years 610,412 610,412
Greater than 5, up 10 years 3,419,609 3,419,609
Greater than 10, up to 15 years 4,119,667 4,119,667
Series D bonds
Greater than 15, up to 35 years 1,005,417 1,005,417
Gross Government restructured securities 10,555,105 9,155,105
Net present value adjustment (885,000) (794,669)

Net Government restructured securities 9,670,105 8,360,436
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10.    Investments - continued

(b) The fair value of unquoted equity investments is based on a valuation done by the
Consulting Division of the Cave Hill School of Business (CHSOB).  CHSOB performed a
valuation as at May 31, 2020 for each of these unquoted investments, using a range of
generally accepted valuation models.  The “best estimate” of the fair market value was 
estimated as the median value of the fair market values generated from the various models 
used. The valuation models used were Book Value, Market to Book, Trailing Price Earnings, 
Price to Sales, Price to Earnings Before Tax and Dividend Growth, Price to Earnings Before
Tax, Depreciation and Amortization, Dividend Growth Model and Free Cash Flows to Equity.  
The Directors consider that the valuation of the unquoted equity investments arrived at by 
the process described above reflects their fair value as at the balance sheet date.

(c) Government restructured securities comprise Series B and D securities. Series B
securities consist of eleven (11) amortizing strips with maturities ranging from five (5) to 
fifteen (15) years.  Interest is payable quarterly.  Interest rates are 1% p.a. for the first 
three (3) years beginning October 01, 2018 and ending September 30, 2021, 2.5% p.a.
for year four (4) beginning October 01, 2021 and ending September 30, 2022, and 
thereafter 3.75% p.a. starting October 01, 2022 until maturity at September 30, 2033.
The principal of each strip will be repaid in four equal quarterly instalments commencing 
one year prior to the maturity date of that strip. Series D securities consist of twenty (20)
amortizing strips with maturities ranging from sixteen (16) to thirty-five (35) years. 
Interest is payable quarterly from November 30, 2018. Interest rates are 1.5% p.a. for 
the five (5) years ending August 31, 2023; 4.25% p.a. for the five (5) years ending
August 31, 2028; 6% p.a. five (5) years ending August 31, 2033; and 7.5% p.a.
thereafter until maturity at August 31, 2053. The principal of each strip will be repaid in 
four equal quarterly instalments in the final year prior to maturity commencing on 30 
November 2033 with the exception of the final strip, which will be repaid in three
instalments with a final payment on August 31, 2053.

(d) The maturity profile of the Barbados Government Securities is shown below:

Maturity Profile 2021 2020
Barbados Optional Savings Scheme bonds
One to 5 years 1,400,000 0
Series B bonds
One to 5 years 610,412 610,412
Greater than 5, up 10 years 3,419,609 3,419,609
Greater than 10, up to 15 years 4,119,667 4,119,667
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Greater than 15, up to 35 years 1,005,417 1,005,417
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Total
Furniture & 
equipment Vehicles Property

As at March 31, 2019
Cost 5,316,028 1,262,346 121,757 3,931,925
Accumulated depreciation (1,973,505) (945,349) (121,757) (906,399)

Net book value 3,342,523 316,997 0 3,025,526

Year ended March 31, 2020

Net book value - start of year 3,342,523 316,997 0 3,025,526
Purchases 109,115 26,654 82,461 0
Disposals - Net book value (1,592) (1,592) 0 0
Depreciation charge (120,704) (68,393) (16,492) (35,819)

Net book value - end of year 3,329,342 273,666 65,969 2,989,707

As at March 31, 2020
Cost 5,353,091 1,285,621 135,545 3,931,925
Accumulated depreciation (2,023,749) (1,011,955) (69,576) (942,218)

Net book value 3,329,342 273,666 65,969 2,989,707

Year ended March 31, 2021
Net book value - start of year 3,329,342 273,666 65,969 2,989,707
Purchases 39,336 39,336 0 0
Gain on revaluation of property 4,778,693 0 0 4,778,693
Depreciation charge (92,015) (75,523) (16,492) 0

Net book value - end of year 8,055,356 237,479 49,477 7,768,400

As at March 31, 2021
Cost 9,228,388 1,324,443 135,545 7,768,400
Accumulated depreciation (1,173,032) (1,086,964) (86,068) 0

Net book value 8,055,356 237,479 49,477 7,768,400

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
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11. Property, plant and equipment - continued

(a) The property is located at Lower Collymore Rock, St. Michael and consists of land and 
buildings.

(b) Revaluation surplus
The revaluation surplus results from the revaluation of land and buildings as at May 17,
2021 by an independent Valuer, L. P. Integrated Surveys Inc. The valuation was done 
using both the Depreciated Replacement Cost Method and the Income Approach 
Method.  The lower of the resulting two valuations has been used in the financial 
statements. The excess of the appraised value over the Net Book Value of the assets 
immediately prior to revaluation, amounting to $4,778,693 was recorded in members’ 
equity. This amount is expected to be reduced annually by the depreciation charged on 
the revaluation amount.

12. Pension Plan Asset

The Credit Union maintains a contributory defined benefit pension plan for its eligible 
employees.  The assets of the plan are invested in a deposit Administration Fund 
managed by Sagicor Life Inc.  The last actuarial review of the pension plan was carried 
out as at March 31, 2021.

2021 2020
Net assets at end of year
Present value of funded obligation (481,495) (448,049)
Fair value of Plan assets 597,411 568,789

Net Pension Plan asset recognized in balance sheet 115,916 120,740

Movement in the net assets
Pension Plan net asset - start of year 120,740 124,063
Amount recognized in Statement of Income (4,707) (3,987)
Re-measurements recognized in Other Comprehensive 
Income (6,477) (5,571)
Contributions - Employer 6,360 6,235

Pension Plan net asset - end of year 115,916 120,740

Contributions - Employees 6,360 6,235
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11. Property, plant and equipment - continued

(a) The property is located at Lower Collymore Rock, St. Michael and consists of land and 
buildings.

(b) Revaluation surplus
The revaluation surplus results from the revaluation of land and buildings as at May 17,
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using both the Depreciated Replacement Cost Method and the Income Approach 
Method.  The lower of the resulting two valuations has been used in the financial 
statements. The excess of the appraised value over the Net Book Value of the assets 
immediately prior to revaluation, amounting to $4,778,693 was recorded in members’ 
equity. This amount is expected to be reduced annually by the depreciation charged on 
the revaluation amount.

12. Pension Plan Asset

The Credit Union maintains a contributory defined benefit pension plan for its eligible 
employees.  The assets of the plan are invested in a deposit Administration Fund 
managed by Sagicor Life Inc.  The last actuarial review of the pension plan was carried 
out as at March 31, 2021.

2021 2020
Net assets at end of year
Present value of funded obligation (481,495) (448,049)
Fair value of Plan assets 597,411 568,789

Net Pension Plan asset recognized in balance sheet 115,916 120,740

Movement in the net assets
Pension Plan net asset - start of year 120,740 124,063
Amount recognized in Statement of Income (4,707) (3,987)
Re-measurements recognized in Other Comprehensive 
Income (6,477) (5,571)
Contributions - Employer 6,360 6,235
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12. Pension Plan Asset - continued

Re-measurements recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
Actuarial gain on obligation 20,757 19,312
Return on Plan assets excluding interest income (27,234) (24,883)

Amount recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (6,477) (5,571)

Actual return on Pension plan assets 15,902 16,101

Assumptions used in determining the present value of obligation at start of year
2021 2020

Discount rate - start of year 7.5% 7.5%
Rate of Return on Plan Assets 7.5% 7.5%
Future salary increases 6.5% 6.5%
Future changes in NIS ceilings 2.5% 2.5%

Mortality 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Static Tables for Males and Females

Amounts for current and previous four periods are as follows:
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Present value of the 
obligation (356,823) (393,478) (416,155) (448,049) (481,495)
Fair value of Pension Plan 
assets 480,660 511,211 540,218 568,789 597,411

Surplus 123,837 117,733 124,063 120,740 115,916

Sensitivity Analysis
If the main assumptions were changed, the present value of the obligation would be as 
follows:

Present value of obligation
% Change of Assumption +0.25% -0.25%
Discount rate 458,378 506,140
Salary increase and NIS increase 494,195 469,261

BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
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13.       Accounts payable and accruals 2021 2020
Sundry accounts 154,941 139,437
Interest payable 27 40

154,968 139,477

14.      Deposits payable 2021 2020

Demand deposits 83,895,488 80,911,777

Term deposits 10,207 19,824

83,905,695 80,931,601

(a) There is no pre-determined rate of interest payable on the demand deposits. The rates 
are set from time to time by the Board of Directors.  At the balance sheet date, the 
interest rate on term deposits was 0.75%.

15.      Qualifying shares 2021 2020

954,271 965,809

(a) There is no limit to the number of shares that the Credit Union is authorized to issue. 
The number of shares held by a member does not determine the member’s voting rights 
since each member is entitled to one vote only at any general meeting.

(b) The Credit Union does not have the right to refuse to repay shares when a member so 
requests. Consequently, shares are classified in the Balance Sheet as Liabilities instead 
of Equity.
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12. Pension Plan Asset - continued
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2021 2020
Advertising 44,358 37,857
Compliance – Anti-Money Laundering 61,500 19,000
Bank charges 10,568 8,158
Cash transport services 6,721 0
Cleaning 27,340 34,221
Computer supplies 0 178
Conventions 0 61,630
Cora Waldron Scholarship Fund 13,000 10,000
Donations 2,980 16,230
Development Fund 0 7,322
Education Fund 14,926 2,478
Equipment maintenance 4,478 1,392
General expenses 6,732 6,530
Financial Services Commission annual fee 49,314 64,361
Honoraria 107,300 102,150
Impairment provision - increase / (decrease) 750,890 (104,971)
Insurance 30,733 30,720
League dues 58,163 54,749
Maintenance - building 148,112 40,683
Management Information Systems consultancy 11,119 12,225
Meeting expenses - Annual General Meeting 47,207 50,778
Meeting expenses - other 16,210 16,820
Members’ education 2,310 7,481
Mutual Benefits Plan (MBP) expense 245,906 290,418
Office supplies 28,613 30,779
Postage 9,202 391
Professional fees – legal and audit 52,763 44,242
Professional fees - other 50,250 77,500
Property consultancy 44,185 44,710
Property tax 59,850 63,175
Security 16,415 20,230
Software license fee 33,202 33,197
Subscriptions 1,390 3,025
Utilities - electricity 23,235 28,185
Utilities - telephone 10,795 12,978
Utilities - water 6,829 4,506
Value Added Tax 59,679 79,856
Vehicle expenses 7,195 16,270

2,063,470 1,229,454

baRbaDos TeaCHeRs' Co-oPeRaTIVe CReDIT UnIon lTD.
MaRCH 31, 2021
PeaRls benCHMaRKs

benchmark 2021 2020
Protection
Allowance for loan losses 2,770,707 100% 127 100
Delinquency >12 months 2,188,678

effective financial structure
Net Loans 34,757,761 70% - 80% 33 38
Total Assets 104,884,260

Liquid Investment 30,051,796 Max 20% 29 25
Total Assets 104,884,260

Member Savings 84,859,966 70% - 80% 81 84
Total Assets 104,884,260

Institutional Capital 19,869,325 Min 10% 19 16
Total Assets 104,884,260

structure/asset Quality
Non-earning assets 24,652,378 < 5% 24 19
Total assets 104,884,260

Total Loan Delinquency 3,019,889 < 5% 8 7
Gross Loan Portfolio 37,528,468

Rates of Return & Costs
Total Operating Expenses 3,732,897 < 5% 4 4
Average Total Assets 101,261,939

Net comprehensive income 4,724,886 > 10% 5 0
Average Assets 101,261,939

signs of Growth
Savings growth rate 10% - 20% 4 6
Loan growth rate 8% - 15% (4) (5)

Growth in membership > 5% 2 4

Notes
Non earning assets include the following:
Non interest earning bank and cash accounts
Interest receivable - net of provision for doubtful interest receivable
Accounts receivable - net of provision for doubtful accounts receivable
Prepaid expense

Savings growth rate includes the change in Shares, Ordinary deposits and Term deposits
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.

Schedule of Other Operating Expenses
Year ended March 31, 2021
Expressed in Barbados Dollars

22

2021 2020
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BARBADOS TEACHERS’ CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LTD.
TREASURER’S REPORT

FOR THE FINACIAL YEAR APRIL 1, 2020 to MARCH 31, 2021

INTRODUCTION

The global economic debacle triggered by the COVID 19 pandemic has had far reaching implications to the 
extent that there is the expectation that the world will never be the same again.  Barbados is no exception and 
so far, has experienced economic decay in the last 15 months. The impact of the assault on financial institutions 
in Barbados, including the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. (“The Credit Union”) is still 
being measured.

Membership pride in this organization, loyalty, high liquidity, and a rapid turnaround time to pay out approved 
loans to members in an increasingly fierce competitive climate, allowed us to continue serving members with 
distinction. Very few of our members lost their jobs or suffered from reduced work weeks and/or income, and 
as such, the demand for moratoria on loan repayments was minimal.

ASSETS

Assets grew by approximately $7.2 million dollars. This growth was due to increased savings by members and 
the revaluation of our headquarters, which realized a $4,778,693 increase in value. In the future the property 
should be revalued every three to five years in line with the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and 
for insurance purposes to determine replacement value. Property, plant and equipment, are now valued at 
approximately $8 million and disclosed on the face of the Balance Sheet (page 43 of the financial statements).

DEPOSITS AND SHARES

Deposits continued to grow at a steady rate of 3.7% with deposits payable now standing at $83,905,695 
compared to $80,931,601 in 2019/20 financial year.  There was a continued steady increase in membership 
from 2,483 in 2020 to 2,532 in 2021 which contributed to the increase in deposits and shares.  

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS

The effect of the increase in shares/deposits has led to growth in our cash and bank deposits which moved from 
$24,122,146 to $29,938.896, an increase of over $5.82 million (page 43 of the financial statements).

LOANS AND LOANS INCOME

Loan demand contracted to $37,528,468 from $39,050,772 during these challenging and uncertain times 
(page 53 of the financial statements), as members exercised caution in their financial endeavours.

INVESTMENTS

The low demand for loans resulted in the Credit Union holding excess cash.  Such cash would realize minimal 
interest income if held at the Commercial Banks and as such it forced the Board to seek other short-term 
investments. Hostile conditions in the financial markets and low interest rates impacted on our current 
investments which declined by approximately $4.2 million, moving from $18,642,912 to $14,474,723. A 
decline of 22% (pages 43 & 54 of the financial statements).

Non-current investments grew by over $3.1 million, bringing total investments to approximately $31.5 million 
(page 54 of the financial statements).
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EXPENDITURE

Other expenses grew by $129,145 during the last year due to increases in staff costs and major refurbishments 
to our over 25 year old buildings, as well as an increase in our impairment provision on loans, interest and 
receivables.

NET COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As loans to members declined, so did interest income to approximately $2.8 million compared to $3.3 million 
in 2020. Net interest expense dropped to $1.9 million and other income to $208,387, while other expenses 
grew to $2,847,574. The impact of the above resulted in a net loss of $703,839. 

It should be noted that under operating expense we are required as per IFRS 9 to provide for any loss due to 
deterioration in loans and financial assets.  To date we have recorded a total impairment of $750,890, (page 60 
of the financial statements).  Please note this is an accounting provision which our auditor will explain.

STATUTORY RESERVES

Statutory reserves (normally 10% of assets) now stand at $10,488,426. Revaluation reserves, as per the building 
revaluation is $4,778,693 (note 11), unrealized surplus is $4,323,671 (note 10 in the financial statements) and 
undivided surplus $278,536.

PEARLS

A review of the performance using the PEARLS guidelines/standards gives a clear indication of the overall 
moderate performance and growth of the Credit Union.

CONCLUSION

To address the issues of high liquidity and low loan demand, moderate membership growth and competitive 
interest rates at other financial institutions, the Credit Union has launched a membership drive and loans fair 
from June 1, 2021 until December 31, 2021. It is hoped that this will result in a 10% increase in membership 
which would ultimately increase the demands for loans.

The delinquency of borrowers is a matter of high priority and the Credit Union has engaged the services of 
bailiffs and two lawyers to deal with delinquent accounts.

The Board of Directors reviewed the payment of a bonus for all members and is satisfied that this can be drawn 
from the Surplus accounts.

…………………………
C. Walter Harper JP.
Treasurer
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RESOLUTION FOR BTCCULTD AGM 2020

Whereas annual elections to the Board of Directors, the Credit Committee and the Supervisory 
Committee of the Barbados Teachers’ Co-operative Credit Union Limited (BTCCUL) have 
provided for the rotation of elected members since the year 1994-1995.

And whereas for the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of June 22, 2019 an inadequate number 
of nominees for election resulted in two (2) vacancies on the Credit Committee and one (1) 
vacancy on the Supervisory Committee,

And whereas these vacancies were filled in accordance with sections 205 (8) and 211 (8) 
respectively of the Co-operative Societies Act of Barbados until the AGM of 2020,

And whereas this situation has resulted in all five (5) positions on the Credit Committee, and 
four (4) of five (5) positons on the Supervisory Committee being vacant for the AGM of 2020,

Be it resolved, in the interest of the preservation of the desired rotation of committee members, 
that for elections to the Credit Committee at the AGM 2020 the three (3) candidates receiving 
the three (3) highest tallies of votes shall serve for two (2) years, and the two (2) candidates 
receiving the next two (2) highest tallies of votes shall serve for one (1) year, 

Be it further resolved that for elections to the Supervisory Committee at the AGM of 2020, the 
three (3) candidates receiving the three (3) highest tallies of votes shall serve for two (2) years, 
and the candidate receiving the next highest tally of votes shall serve for one (1) year.

Proposed By: ………………………  Seconded By: …………………….
  Mrs. Deborah Swanston     Mr. Victor Hutchinson     

International Credit Union Governance
Principles

Governance is the system designed to control and distribute power within an organization. 

The International Credit Union Governance Principles are ideals to be achieved and are  

intended to apply to credit unions, not to credit union associations.  These Principles address 

the challenges of organizational power within credit unions at three separate levels. The board 

and managers, as a cohesive unit, ensure the credit union’s compliance with issues related to 

external and internal governance. In order to achieve this goal, each board member has a duty 

to adhere to the principles of individual governance.

External Governance
All financial institutions, regardless of type, 
are expected to comply with these basic 
standards of transparency, auditing and 
financial reporting. Credit unions should 
comply with the International Credit Union 
Safety and Soundness Principles and their 
national legal and regulatory frameworks.

Internal Governance
Unlike for-profit entities, credit unions 
exist to serve their members. Thus, credit 
unions must address this additional layer 
of governance related to their democratic, 
member-driven nature. This includes a 
commitment to “one member, one vote,” 
as well as adherence to the International 
Credit Union Operating Principles and 
the role of the general assembly as the 
highest governing body.

Individual Governance
In order to perform their collective duties, 
the individual board members and managers 
have an obligation to maintain ethical 
conduct and professionalism and to speak 
with a single voice once board decisions 
have been made. Board members are also 
expected to possess the skills and technical 
capacity necessary to fulfill their duties.
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External Governance
Transparency
• The board should commit to regular, 

honest communication of its activities 
with members, regulators and the 

 general public in the spirit of full 
 disclosure.
• Financial statements, compliant 
 with generally accepted accounting  

principles and local regulatory 
 standards, should be made available 
 to members and the public.

Compliance
• The board is expected to comply 
 with both the letter and spirit of 
 regulation, to cooperate fully with 
 its regulatory body and to comply 
 with national laws.
• The board should ensure that the 
 credit union meets or exceeds the  

International Credit Union Safety 
 and Soundness Principles as well  

as any other relevant standards  
for financial institutions.

• The credit union should undergo 
 annual external audits within 90  

days of the end of each fiscal year. 
• The audit relationship should 
 be reexamined frequently and  

consideration be given to changing 
 the auditor at least every 3-5 years  

in a competitive bidding process.

Public Accountability
• The board of directors and management   

must be constantly cognizant of respon-
sibilities to governmental structures, 
including but not limited to regulators, 
legislative bodies, the media, the 

 community and the public.

Internal Governance
Structure
• The board of directors should be  

composed of an odd number, no less 
than five and no greater than nine. 

• Consideration should be given to  
the rotation of directors.

• Interested general members who  
comply with the standards of individual 
governance can stand for nomination.

• The board should encourage dialogue 
with general members at the annual 
general meeting.

• The annual general meeting of the  
general assembly of members should  
be adequately promoted to ensure  
sufficient member participation.

Continuity
• The board should create strategies  

to maintain the competitiveness and 
sustainability of the credit union.

• The board should create succession  
plans for both directors and management 
that ensure the continued existence  
of the credit union.

• The board should approve a disaster 
management and recovery plan.

Balance
• The composition of the board should aim 

to adequately reflect the demographic 
makeup of its members and balance the 
financial service demands of members.

• The board should seek to balance  
diversity and experience, but all 

 directors must meet the standards 
 of individual governance.

Accountability
• The board is formally accountable to 
 the general assembly of members, which 

is the highest governing body.
• The roles and responsibilities of the 

board, committees and managers should 
be established clearly in the bylaws  
or other policies.

• It is the duty of the board to establish 
strategic direction, approve policies and 
monitor management’s implementation 
of these policies and achievement  
of targets.

• It is the duty of management to 
 prepare the plan and budget, undertake 

operations, implement the policies  
approved by the board and achieve  
the targets set forth.

Individual Governance
Integrity
• The credit union should adopt a 
 standardized code of conduct 
 clearly explaining proper behavior. 
• Directors or managers must not 
 have criminal backgrounds, recent 
 bankruptcies or penal backgrounds.
• Immediate family members should not 

serve on the board or in management 
 at the same time.
• Board members must excuse themselves 

from participating in discussions and 
voting on matters from which they or 
their family have a potential conflict 

 of interest.
• The board must approve loans to 
 directors or management.  All such 

insider loans must be made within the 
approved credit policy parameters and 
reported on a regular basis to the 

 full board.
• Directors with loans more than three 

months delinquent will be removed 
 from their position.

Competence
• All members of the board should have 

basic financial literacy, including the 
ability to interpret financial statements 
and standards, or commit to acquiring 
these skills through education or  
training within the first year of service.

• Individual members should have special-
ized financial or business skills and/or a 
member-focused viewpoint. 

Commitment
• Directors should be willing and able to 

commit the necessary time to the credit 
union. Failure to attend board meetings 
may result in dismissal.  

• Directors must respect the decisions  
of the board, adhering to all policies  
that have been adopted, regardless  
of personal opinion. 

9272007
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